
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Standards Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Wednesday 4 November 2009 
7.00 pm 

Committee Room 4 - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Administration: Opposition Independent Members 
Councillor Adronie Alford 
Councillor Nicholas Botterill 
Councillor Donald Johnson 
 

Councillor Stephen Cowan 
Councillor Lisa Homan 
 

Steven Moussavi 
(Chairman) 
Joyce Epstein 
Grace Moody-Stuart 
Christopher Troke 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: David Bays 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Councillors Services 

 �: 020 8753 2628 
 E-mail: david.bays@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend.  
 

Date Issued: 
 

27 October 2009 
 

 
 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Standards Committee 
Agenda 

 
4 November 2009 

 
 
Item  Pages 
1. MINUTES  1 - 6 
 To approve as an accurate record, and the Chairman to sign, the 

minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 10 June 2009. 
 

 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   
 If a Councillor has any prejudicial or personal interest in a particular 

report he/she should declare the existence and nature of the interest at 
the commencement of the consideration of the item or as soon as it 
becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a prejudicial interest may 
also make representations, give evidence or answer questions about 
the matter. The Councillor must then withdraw immediately from the 
meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote taken, unless a 
dispensation has been obtained from the Standards Committee. 
 
Where members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance, then 
the Councillor with a prejudicial interest should withdraw from the 
meeting whilst the matter is under consideration, unless the disability 
has been removed by the Standards Committee. 
 

 

4. 'THAT'S A WRAP' DVD  7 - 8 
 This Committee is presented with a DVD entitled ‘That’s a Wrap’, which 

outlines the main stages of assessing local complaints. 
 

 

5. ANNUAL ASSEMBLY OF STANDARDS COMMITTEES 2009  9 - 12 
 This report notes the attendance of two delegates at the Annual 

Assembly of Standards Committees, and provides their feedback from 
this event.  
 

 

6. WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY  13 - 21 
 This report provides the Committee with an opportunity to propose any 

changes to the Whistleblowing Policy adopted by the Council in 1999. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



7. LOCAL ASSESSMENT OF COMPLAINTS  22 - 29 
 This report outlines activity by the newly constituted sub-committees to 

discharge the Standards Committee’s new functions, and arrangements 
for the co-option of an Independent Member of this Committee to the 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea, if approved.  
 

 

8. MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES  30 - 37 
 Further to a previous request from the Standards Committee, this report 

provides an annual report on the Members’ Allowance Scheme. 
 

 

9. DISPENSATION GUIDANCE  38 - 48 
 This report outlines recent guidance issued by Standards for England 

and how it affects the Council.  
 

 

10. PROBITY IN PLANNING  49 - 89 
 This report outlines recent guidance issued by the Local Government 

Association about a revised Code of Conduct for Members in relation to 
Planning. 
 

 

11. JOINT STANDARDS COMMITTEE MEETING WITH THE ROYAL 
BOROUGH OF KENSINGTON AND CHELSEA  

90 - 92 

 This report outlines suggested arrangements for the joint meeting with 
the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea Council’s Standards 
Committee on 3 December 2009. 
 

 

12. STANDARDS COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  93 - 94 
 The appendix attached to this report sets out the future work 

programme of the Standards Committee and outlines scheduled 
reporting dates.   

 

 



 

 

 
STANDARDS 
COMMITTEE 

 

 
10 JUNE 2009 

 
 

 

 Members Present: 
 
Mr. Steven Moussavi (Chairman) 
Ms Grace Moody-Stuart 
Mr. Christopher Troke  
Councillor Lisa Homan 
Councillor Nicholas Botterill 
 
Officers in attendance: 
 
Michael Cogher,  Assistant Director (Legal & Democratic 
Services) 
Ross Chesterton, Head of Fraud Service 
Gary Marson, Principal Committee Co-ordinator 
 

 

ITEM  ACTION  

   1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    2 

ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 
 
RESOLVED that - 
 

Mr Steven Moussavi be elected Chairman of the Committee for 
the 2009/10 Municipal Year. 
 
MR CHRISTOPHER TROKE  
 
Mr Moussavi took the opportunity to express the Committee’s 
gratitude to the retiring Chairman, Mr Christopher Troke, for his 
efforts during his period in office.  
 

 

   3 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE STANDARDS 
COMMITTEE HELD ON 1 APRIL 2009 
 
RESOLVED that -  
 
the minutes of the meeting held on 1 April 2009 be agreed and 
signed as an accurate record. 
  

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



-  Standards Committee -    
 

 
 
 4 
 
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Adronie 
Alford, Stephen Cowan and Donald Johnson. 
 

 
 
 

  5 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 

  6 TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
The Committee noted its terms of reference and membership as 
agreed at the Annual Council meeting on 27 May 2009. 

 
 
 
 
 

  7 ANTI FRAUD SERVICE – PRESENTATION 
 
The Committee received a presentation from Ross Chesterton, 
Head of the Council’s Fraud Service, on the work of his team.  
Members noted details of the statutory framework within which 
the Fraud Service operated, its relationships with the Police and 
other agencies, the scale of its activities, its working practices, 
priorities and sanctions and details of recent cases. Mr 
Chesterton also outlined the primary causes of fraudulent 
behaviour and the cultural changes required to combat it. 
 
The Committee was informed that the costs of the service, 
which amounted to £740,000pa, were more than offset by an 
estimated total figure of £1.2m savings in the last financial year 
as a result of frauds stopped, monies recovered and errors 
identified. It was also emphasised that there were further 
intangible and unquantifiable benefits as a result of deterrence. 
It was noted that exercises to measure staff awareness revealed 
a year on year improvement in the visibility of the service 
although there tended to be lower levels of understanding 
amongst junior staff and those working in peripheral locations. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  8 REGISTERS OF INTERESTS AND GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 
 
The Committee welcomed a package of process improvements 
that had been introduced to ensure the prompt and accurate 
handling of amendments and updates to the Register of 
Members Interests and the Register of Gifts and Hospitality. 
 
A recent governance audit had found a substantial level of 
assurance in respect of arrangements for corporate and 
partnership governance, financial management, the Code of 
Conduct and maintenance of various statutory registers. 
However, some weaknesses in control had been identified in 
relation to the Interests and Gifts and Hospitality Registers. 
Modifications to working practices had therefore been 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



-  Standards Committee -    
 

 
introduced to meet the recommendations for change and ensure 
more responsive and pro-active management of the Registers 
and support to Councillors in meeting their statutory obligations.  
 
The Committee suggested that in the interests of transparency 
and accountability, the Gifts and Hospitality Register should be 
made available for the public to view online, consistent with the 
practice in respect of Members interests. There was no statutory 
obstacle to this since the Register was already open to public 
inspection although it was felt that contextual information would 
need to be provided in order to explain why some Members, by 
virtue of their roles and functions, received more in the way of 
gifts and hospitality than others. It was agreed that an annual 
report on both registers should be brought to the Committee 
with effect from June 2010. 
 
RESOLVED that – 
 
i) the improved processes that have been established to ensure 
the prompt and accurate handling of amendments to the 
Members’ Register of Interests and the Register of Gifts and 
Hospitality be noted; and 
 
ii) The Committee receive reports on the contents of the said 
Registers annually 
 

 
 
 
 
KA/DB to 
investigate 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MC/KA 

   9 PRIMARY CARE TRUST 
 
The Committee noted the effects of the recent integration of 
senior management arrangements between the Council and the 
Hammersmith and Fulham Primary Care Trust (PCT) and, in 
particular, the way in which governance issues were addressed 
in the PCT. Members expressed support for the partnership 
working and looked forward to a time when the ethical structures 
could also be integrated, although it was recognised that for the 
time being the PCT remained subject to a separate statutory 
framework. 
 
RESOLVED that –  
 
The separate arrangements which apply to the PCT in relation 
to ethics and conduct be noted 

 

Page 3



-  Standards Committee -    
 

 
  10 ANNUAL ASSEMBLY OF STANDARDS COMMITTEES 2009 

 
The Committee gave consideration to the nomination of 
delegates to attend the 8th Annual Assembly of Standards 
Committees, to be held in Birmingham on 12/13 October 2009. 
 
RESOLVED that –  
 
Mr Steven Moussavi be nominated to represent the Council at 
the 8th Annual Assembly of Standards Committees and an 
invitation also be extended to Councillor Adronie Alford. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DB 

 11 COUNCILLORS EXPENSES 
 
In the light of recent publicity concerning the system of 
Parliamentary allowances and expenses, the Committee 
received details of the Council’s own scheme of Members 
Allowances including the basic allowance paid to all Members, 
special responsibility allowances and the levels of 
reimbursement for travel and dependant carer expenses.  It was 
noted that local authority allowances were more closely 
prescribed and transparent than those for Members of 
Parliament and the Council regularly published both Members 
entitlements and actual claims. It was agreed that the 
Committee should receive an annual report setting out the 
Allowances scheme in detail and confirming the extent of 
individual claims. 
 
RESOLVED that –  
 
A report on Members allowances be submitted to the Committee 
annually with effect from October 2009. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MC/KA 

  12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WORK PROGRAMME 
 
The Committee gave further consideration to its work 
programme for the 2009/10 municipal year.  In addition to the 
previously agreed items, and the annual report on Allowances 
requested earlier in the meeting, it was felt that an informal 
social gathering should be arranged for late November in order 
to bring members of both the Hammersmith & Fulham and 
Kensington & Chelsea Standards Committees together to share 
best practice and discuss issues of mutual interest. 
 
RESOLVED that –  
 
An invitation be extended to members of the Kensington & 
Chelsea Standards Committee to attend a social function in 
November 2009.  
 
 
 

 
 
DB to note 
 
 
 
 
 
DB to 
coordinate 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



-  Standards Committee -    
 

 
 
  13 

 
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED that –  
 
In accordance with Section 100A (4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the public and press be excluded from the meeting 
during the consideration of the following item of business, on the 
grounds that it contains the likely disclosure of exempt 
information, as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the 
said Act, and that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption currently outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information. 
 

 

 14 LOCAL COMPLAINTS 2008/09 
 
The Committee noted details of the case determined during the 
course of 2008/09 by the Assessment and Review Sub-
Committees. 

 

                                                           
 
Meeting began: 7:00 pm 
Meeting ended:  8.32 pm 
 
 
 
                                                                      CHAIRMAN………………………….. 
 

Page 5



-  Standards Committee -    
 

 
 

Page 6



  
 
 
 

 

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

4 NOVEMBER 2009 
 
 

 

CONTRIBUTORS 
 
 
ADLDS 

“THAT’S A WRAP” DVD 
 
Summary 
 
The DVD outlines the main stages of assessing local 
complaints. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WARDS 
 
ALL 

  
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the Committee encourages Party Groups to show 
the DVD at one of their Group meetings. 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 7



  
 
 
 

 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  As part of its continued support, Standards for England has produced a DVD 
designed to help Standards Committee Members assess complaints about elected or 
co-opted members. A copy of the DVD was sent to the all Monitoring Officers across 
the Country for showing to their Standards Committees. 
 
1.2  The DVD takes viewers through the main stages of local assessment, exploring 
important or contentious issues along the way.  These stages are pre-assessment,  
assessment, decision and review. 
 
1.3  The programme features learning points which appear throughout the drama.  The 
learning points identify the criteria that guide assessment sub-committees’ decisions, 
including what to take into account before referring a complaint for local investigation 
or to Standards for England, when taking no action on a complaint or considering other 
action. 
 
1.4  Officers are exploring the possibility of uploading the DVD to the Intranet as 
reference material for Members’ use.  In addition, each of the Party Groups will be 
encouraged to watch the DVD at one of their Group meetings as part of the Council’s 
Standards and Ethics Development Programme.  Extra copies are available from SfE 
at £12-50 each 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
2  To encourage Party Groups to show the DVD at one of their Group meetings. 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
No. 
 

Brief Description of 
Background 

Papers 
Name/Ext.  of holder of 

file/copy 
 

Department/Location 

1  Letter from Chief Executive, 
SfE dated 12 October 2009 

David Bays FCS – Room 203, HTH  

 
.  
 
 
 
. 
 

Page 8



  
 

 

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

4 NOVEMBER 2009 
 
 

 

CONTRIBUTORS 
 
ADLDS 

ANNUAL ASSEMBLY OF STANDARDS 
COMMITTEES 2009 
 
 
Summary 
 
The report notes the attendance of two delegates at the 
Annual Assembly of Standards Committees and their 
feedback. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WARDS 
 
ALL 

  
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the Committee notes the comments made. 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 9



  
 

BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Annual Assembly of Standards Committees, the leading conference on all 
issues concerned with the local government Code of Conduct and improving ethical 
standards, was held on 12 and 13 October at the International Convention Centre in 
Birmingham. 
 
1.2   Steven Moussavi and Chris Troke attended the 8th Annual Assembly and have 
set out the following comments, including possible areas for future work. 
 
Steven Moussavi’s Comments 
 
I had the pleasure of attending, with Chris Troke,  the 2009 Annual Assembly of 
Standard Committees. (myself 1st day and  Chris 1st and 2nd day). 
 
This was a highly successful and constructive  conference and I was most 
impressed by the speeches, especially by Dr Robert Chilton, Chair, and Glenys 
Stacey, Chief Executive, Standards for England and workshops that I attended 
and  equally I was impressed by the delegates’ excellent morale and fellowship. 
Our Committee in the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham has not yet 
carried  out any serious investigations as no complaints have been received. This 
could be something to be proud  of.  On the other hand,  it may be due  to the 
fact that the  public is generally not aware that  the  Standards Committee exists.  
More effective publicity is needed. 
 
The annual meeting next year will be in Birmingham 18-19 October 2010. This Is 
an ideal opportunity to cement our close working relationship with the other 430 
committees in England. As always, good clear communication is paramount  for  
continued harmonious relations. 
 
Colleagues, we have the excellent opportunity of hosting Kensington and 
Chelsea Standards Committee on 3 December, the first such event to be held. 
We must not think of it as a ‘One off’ as I  do hope that it will be repeated  in 
years to come, whether hosted by us or by them. 
 
The assembly gave  an excellent opportunity to hear each other’s views, share 
experiences and offer practical assistance and advice to the many committees 
gathered together in those two  days of conference.  We should be now happy 
that all practical legislation is in place and each committee has the authority to 
deal with cases as and when they occur. 
 
There was a vast number of  independents, councillors, monitoring officers and 
liaison officers  present and from what we heard in both the formal and informal 
sessions, Standards Committees on the whole are in good heart and progressing 
well. 
 
In many respects, the assembly marks the beginning of the Standard 
Committees season. In enjoying the season remember particularly to be open 
about your committee and take care that in your involvement in any recruiting to  
ensure that only men and women of quality are selected.   

Page 10



  
 

Lessons to be learnt: transparency, publicity, promotion of work of standards 
committee, outreach to public, support for the committee from the leadership of 
the authority, easier access to chief executive and leaders of two main parties at 
LBH & F. 
 
Chris Troke adds:  
 
“Whilst there is considerable officer and member confidence in code of conduct 
and in the local standards framework’s ability to uncover and deal with poor 
standards the framework has had little impact on the public; this latter point 
tended to dominate the presentations and discussions at the conference, more of 
which later. 
 
The number of complaints in 2008-2009 was 2,863 or one complaint for every 25 
of the 70,000 plus members.  Around 50% were from members of the public and 
just over one third from members. No further action was taken in over half of all 
the complaints whilst a third were referred for investigation. Six percent of 
complaints were referred to Standards for England and a total of 15 members 
were suspended. 
 
The new revised code of conduct will be published next month and come into 
force in May 2010. We will need to publicise that we are adopting the code.  A 
DVD on local assessment has been issued and should be available at the next 
meeting. 
 
The future will be a testing time for member/officer relationships in the very 
difficult times ahead due to financial constraints which it is suggested could last 
for 5 years or more 
 
Getting the message across to, and being more interactive with, the public was 
prominent with several local authorities, including Rossendale, Lincoln and 
Nottingham, giving presentations on the way they operate in terms of publicity 
and integrating with members and officers in the council framework.  
 
In terms of our overall performance I would suggest LBHF sits about in the 
middle of 470 authorities. However, after listening to the presentations from other 
SCs,  I feel we could easily lift ourselves into the top 10% with only a small 
amount of effort through a consolidated forward work plan which we should aim 
to complete before the 2010 elections. “ 
 
In the light of the Conference, the following suggestions have been made by the 
delegates for the Committee’s Work Programme for the future: 
 
• Improve our website – make it more prominent and easier to access  
• Publicising the process for making complaints  
• Local press – have at least one front page article on the SC every year  
• Posters and leaflets displayed in public buildings  
• Mail shot leaflet, newsletter to every household  

Page 11



  
 

• Look at our training/refresher training of members to include new 
independent SC members.  

• Present minutes of every SC meeting to the council as well as the annual 
report to the full council.  

 
Prepare a pack for members to include: 

 Code of conduct  
A flow chart for declaration of interests 
DVDs - code uncovered and local assessment (copyrights permitting for 
the latter DVD)  
Leaflet on gifts and hospitality 

 
Meet with Chief Executive and Leader of Administration and Opposition – 
produce an agenda. 
Request attendance at an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Request attendance at Executive Committee 
Report back all meetings/actions to the SC. 
 
Lastly, we should possibly seek a small budget which could fund publicity, 
attendance at Birmingham ICC and hosting events. 
 
Whilst this may seem a rather large shopping list it is achievable if all the 
independent members are prepared to play a part. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
To agree any areas for further work in the Work Programme set out later in the 
Agenda. 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
No. 

 
Brief Description of 

Background 
Papers 

Name/Ext.  of holder of 
file/copy 

 
Department/Location 

1  Annual Assembly 
Conference Papers 

David Bays 020 8753 2628 FCS/Room203, 
Hammersmith Town Hall 

 
.  
 
 
 
. 
 

Page 12



STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

4 NOVEMBER 2009 

CONTRIBUTORS

ADLDS
HCS

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY 

Summary

This report  gives Members an opportunity to propose any 
changes to the Whistleblowing Policy adopted by the 
Council in 1999 

WARDS
ALL

RECOMMENDATION:

That  comments on the attached Whistleblowing Policy be 
made to the Council. 
.

Agenda Item 6

Page 13



1. Background 

The current Whistleblowing Policy was adopted in 1999 on the basis that 
the Standards Committee would review its provisions in the light of early 
experience of its practical operation. The LBHF Local Protocols & Guidance 
for Members were adopted similarly and were reviewed by the committee in 
April 2009. 

2 Whistleblowing Policy 

A copy of  the Whistleblowing Policy is attached.  It is understood from the 
HR Department that the policy is very infrequently used. Indeed, the 
Monitoring Officer has had no complaints made under the policy since 2005.
In the longer term there are plans to review this and similar HR policies but 
no changes are currently being proposed.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000  
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No. Brief Description of 
Background 

Papers

Name/Ext.  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/Location

1. Whistleblowing Policy Michael Cogher, Ext 
2700

FCS, Legal Division, 
Room 133a HTH 

Page 14



A.9 CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING CODE THE COUNCIL’S POLICY ON 
“WHISTLEBLOWING” 

INTRODUCTION

The Council has had in place since 1994 a Code of Conduct for all Employees. 
This makes clear that employees should report any impropriety or breach of 
procedure that they encounter in working for the Council, but does not give a 
detailed framework for what is now commonly termed ‘whistleblowing’ by 
employees. 

The July 1998 White Paper on Modernising Local Government accepted the 
recommendation of The Committee on Standards in Public Life that every local 
authority should institute a procedure for whistleblowing. This Council has 
decided to adopt an existing LGA/LGMB model code pending any further 
legislation. It is described as a ‘Confidential Reporting Code’. 

The  Council has agreed a whistleblowing procedure for Social Services 
staff.  This deals with issues of particular relevance to this service and will sit 
alongside this new ‘Confidential Reporting Code’. 

Involvement of Councillors in the Code
As  part of the Council’s overall scrutiny processes the Council, as the ultimate 
employer of all LBHF staff, will be made aware of issues raised through a 
whistleblowing procedure. The Council has also constituted a
Standards Committee with responsibilities for scrutiny functions as
the logical reporting point, at Councillor-level, to oversee the operation of the 
whistleblowing code.  

Awareness and publicity
For any whistleblowing code to work effectively, all employees need to 
understand how it works and the circumstances in which it should be used. The 
Council has a pack of training and publicity materials from the national 
charity Public Concern at Work, which has published up-to-date material which 
takes into account the 1998 Public Interest Disclosure Act. Each department is
responsible for their own staff briefings. 

Trade Union consultation
Staffside support the principle of introducing a whistleblowing code. 

June 1999  – Management Guidelines 

Page 15



Public Interest Disclosure Act 
The Public Interest Disclosure Act gives employees two safeguards in respect of 
disclosures of information. Firstly, an employee is entitled not to be subjected to 
any detriment by virtue of having made a protected disclosure. Secondly, if an 
employee is dismissed because of having made such a disclosure, the dismissal 
will automatically be unfair and, further, there will be no need for  the employee to 
have two years’ continuous employment before bringing a claim for unfair 
dismissal.

This new legislation is complex, and if you feel you need more information about 
how the Act works, please contacct Legal Services Division. 

CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING POLICY - 
“Whistleblowing” 

1. PREAMBLE 

1.1 Employees are often the first to realise that there may be something 
seriously wrong within the Council. However, they may not express their 
concerns because they feel that speaking up would be disloyal to their 
colleagues or to the Council. They may also fear harassment or victimisation. In 
these circumstances it may be easier to ignore the concern rather than report 
what may just be a suspicion of malpractice. 

1.2 The Council is committed to the highest possible standards of openness, 
probity and accountability In line with that commitment we expect employees, 
and others that we deal with, who have serious concerns about any aspect of the 
Council’s work to come forward and voice those concerns. It is recognised that 
most cases will have to proceed on a confidential basis. 

1.3 This policy document makes it clear that you can do so without fear of 
victimisation, subsequent discrimination or disadvantage. This Confidential 
Reporting policy is intended to encourage and enable employees to raise serious 
concerns within the Council rather than overlooking a problem or ‘blowing the 
whistle’ outside. 

1.4 The policy applies to all employees and those contractors working for the 
Council on Council premises, for example, agency staff, builders, drivers where 
referred to in Council contracts.  It also covers suppliers and those providing 
services under a contract with the Council in their own premises, for example, 
care homes. It complements the Social Services Whistleblowing policy, which is 
designed to address issues more specific to that service, and which was 
introduced in 1998. 

June 1999  – Management Guidelines 

Page 16



1.5 These procedures are in addition to the Council’s complaints procedures 
and other statutory reporting procedures applying to some departments. You are 
responsible for making service
users aware of the existence of these procedures. 

1.6 This policy has been discussed with the relevant trade unions and 
professional organisations and has their support. 

2. AIMS AND SCOPE OF THIS POLICY 

2.1 This policy aims to: 

! encourage you to feel confident in raising serious concerns and to question 
and act upon concerns about practice 

! provide avenues for you to raise those concerns and receive feedback on any 
action taken 

! ensure that you receive a response to your concerns and that you are aware 
of how to pursue them if you are not satisfied 

! reassure you that you will be protected from possible reprisals or victimisation 
if you have a reasonable belief that you have made any disclosure in good 
faith.

2.2 There are existing procedures in place to enable you to lodge a grievance 
relating to your own employment. The Confidential Reporting Policy is intended 
to cover major concerns that fall outside the scope of other procedures. These 
include:

! conduct which is an offence or a breach of law 
! disclosures related to miscarriages of justice 
! health and safety risks, including risks to the public as well as other 

employees 
! damage to the environment 
! the unauthorised use of public funds 
! possible fraud and corruption 
! sexual or physical abuse of clients, or 
! other unethical conduct. 

Thus, any serious concerns that you have about any aspect of service provision 
or the conduct of officers or members of the Council or others acting on behalf of 
the Council can be reported under the Confidential Reporting Policy This may be 
about something that: 

! makes you feel uncomfortable in terms of known standards, your experience 
or the standards you believe the Council subscribes to; or 

June 1999  – Management Guidelines 

Page 17



! is against the Council’s Standing Orders, Financial Regulations, Contracts 
Code, or other policies, or  

! falls below established standards of practice; or 
! amounts to improper conduct. 

2.4 This policy does not replace the corporate complaints procedure (copies 
of which are held by all departments). 

3. SAFEGUARDS 

 Harassment or Victimisation 

3.1 The Council is committed to good practice and high standards and wants 
to be supportive of employees. 

3.2 The Council recognises that the decision to report a concern can be a 
difficult one to make. If what you are saying is true, you should have nothing to 
fear because you will be doing your duty to your employer and those for whom 
you are providing a service. 

3.3 The Council will not tolerate any harassment or victimisation (including 
informal pressures) and will take appropriate action to protect you when you raise 
a concern in good faith. 

3.4 Any investigation into allegations of potential malpractice will not influence 
or be influenced by any disciplinary or redundancy procedures that already affect 
you.

June 1999  – Management Guidelines 

Page 18



4. CONFIDENTIALITY 

4.1 All concerns will be treated in confidence and every effort will be made 
not to reveal your identity if you so wish. At the appropriate time, however, 
you may need to come forward as a witness. 

5. ANONYMOUS ALLEGATIONS 

5.1 This policy encourages you to put your name to your allegation 
whenever possible. 

5.2 Concerns expressed anonymously are much less powerful but will be 
considered at the discretion of the Council. 

5.3 In exercising this discretion the factors to be taken into account would 
include:
! the seriousness of the issues raised 
! the credibility of the concern; and 
! the likelihood of confirming the allegation from attributable sources. 

6. UNTRUE ALLEGATIONS 

6.1 If you make an allegation in good faith, but it is not confirmed by the 
investigation, no action will be taken against you. If however, you make an 
allegation frivolously maliciously or for personal gain, disciplinary action may 
be taken against you. 

7. HOW TO RAISE A CONCERN 

7.1 As a first step, you should normally raise concerns with your immediate 
manager or their superior. This depends, however, on the seriousness and 
sensitivity of the issues involved and who is suspected of the malpractice. For 
example, if you believe that management is involved, you should approach 
the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer (Assistant Director - Legal and Democratic
Services), Director of Finance and Corporate Services or Head of Internal Audit. 

7.2 Concerns may be raised verbally or in writing.  Staff who wish to make 
a written report are invited to use the following format: 
! the background and history of the concern (giving relevant dates); 
! the reason why you are particularly concerned about the situation. 

7.3 The earlier you express the concern the easier it is to take action. 

7.4 Although you are not expected to prove beyond doubt the truth of an 
allegation, you will need to demonstrate to the person contacted that there are 
reasonable grounds for your concern. 

7.5 Obtain advice/guidance on how to pursue matters of concern from: 

Chief Executive (Geoff Alltimes ext: 2000) 

June 1999  – Management Guidelines 

Page 19



Assistant Director - Legal and Democratic Services (Michael Cogher ext: 2700)
Director of Finance and Corporate Services ( Jane West ext:1900)
Chief Internal Auditor (Geoff Drake ext: 2529) 
Public Concern at Work (independent helpline 020 7404 6609) 

7.6 You may wish to consider discussing your concern with a colleague 
first and you may find it easier to raise the matter if there are two (or more) of 
you who have had the same experience or concerns. 

7.7 You may invite your trade union, professional association 
representative or a friend to be present during any meetings or interviews in 
connection with the concerns you have raised. 

8. HOW THE COUNCIL WILL RESPOND 

8.1 The Council will respond to your concerns. Do not forget that testing 
out your concerns is not the same as either accepting or rejecting them. 

8.2 Where appropriate, the matters raised may: 
! be investigated by management, internal audit, or through the disciplinary 

process
! be referred to the police 
! be referred to the external auditor 
! form the subject of an independent inquiry 

8.3 In order to protect individuals and those accused of misdeeds or 
possible malpractice, initial enquiries will be made to decide whether an 
investigation is appropriate and, if so, what form it should take. The overriding 
principle which the Council will have in mind is the public interest. Concerns or 
allegations which fall within the scope of specific procedures (for example, 
child protection or discrimination issues) will normally be referred for 
consideration under those procedures. 

8.4 Some concerns may be resolved by agreed action without the need for 
investigation. If urgent action is required this will be taken before any 
investigation is conducted. 

8.5 Within ten working days of a concern being raised, the responsible 
person (Assistant Director - Legal and Democratic Services) will write to you: 
! acknowledging that the concern has been received 
! indicating how we propose to deal with the matter 
! giving an estimate of how long it will take to provide a final response 
! telling you whether any initial enquiries have been made 
! supplying you with information on staff support mechanisms, and 
! telling you whether further investigations will take place and if not, why not. 

8.6 The amount of contact between the officers considering the issues and 
you will depend on the nature of the matters raised, the potential difficulties 

June 1999  – Management Guidelines 

Page 20



involved and the clarity of the information provided. If necessary, the Council 
will seek further information from you. 

8.7 Where any meeting is arranged, off-site if you so wish, you can be 
accompanied by a union or professional association representative or a 
friend.

8.8 The Council will take steps to minimise any difficulties which you may 
experience as a result of raising a concern. For instance, if you are required to 
give evidence in criminal or disciplinary proceedings the Council will arrange 
for you to receive advice about the procedure. 

8.9 The Council accepts that you need to be assured that the matter has 
been properly addressed. Thus, subject to legal constraints, we will inform 
you of the outcome of any investigation. 

9. THE RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 

9.1 The Assistant Director - Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) has 
overall responsibility for the maintenance and operation of this policy That 
officer maintains a record of concerns raised and the outcomes (but in a form 
which does not endanger your confidentiality) and will report as necessary to 
the Council. 

10. HOW THE MATTER CAN BE TAKEN  
 FURTHER 

10.1 This policy is intended to provide you with an avenue within the Council 
to raise concerns. The Council hopes you will be satisfied with any action 
taken. If you are not, and if you feel it is right to take the matter outside the 
Council, the following are possible contact points: 

! Public Concern at Work (020 7404 6609) 
! District Audit (020 7233 6400) 
! Your trade union 
! Fulham CAB, Hammersmith & Fulham Community Law Centre 
!    Relevant professional bodies or regulatory organisations 
! The police. 

10.2 If you do take the matter outside the Council, you should ensure that 
you do not disclose confidential information. Check with the contact point 
about that. 

June 1999  – Management Guidelines 

Page 21



  
STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
4 NOVEMBER 2009 

 

 

CONTRIBUTORS 
 
ADLADS 
HCS 

 
LOCAL ASSESSMENT OF COMPLAINTS 
 
Summary 
 
This report outlines activity by the newly constituted sub-
committees to discharge the Standards Committee’s new 
functions; and arrangements for the co-option of an 
Independent Member of this Committee to the Royal 
Borough of Kensington & Chelsea Standards Committee if 
approved. 
 
 

WARDS 
 
ALL 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
 
1 That the Standards Committee note the report on 
activity so far during the year and in 2008-09.  
 
2.       That the arrangements for the co-option be approved. 
 
3        That Chris Troke be co-opted to the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea’s Standards Committee, as 
required.  
 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 22



  

1. Background 
 
1.1  At the Committee’s meeting in June 2008 three Sub-Committees – an 
Assessment Sub-Committee, a Review Sub-Committee and a Hearing Sub-
Committee – were set up to deal with any complaints against Members under the 
new local assessment of complaints system.  
 
2. Cases Considered  
  
2.1  Following the introduction of the new arrangements, only one complaint has 
been received. This was considered during 2008-09.  The complaint proceeded 
through the Assessment Sub-Committee to the Review Sub-Committee where it 
was decided to take no action on the allegation. 
 
3. Co-option 
 
3.1  In July 2009, Ms Sophia Lambert, the Chair of the Royal of Borough of 
Kensington & Chelsea’s Standards Committee wrote to the Chairman of this 
Committee inquiring if a Member of this Committee could be co-opted to the 
Kensington and Chelsea’s Standards Committee.  She noted that the Kensington 
& Chelsea Standards Committee membership consisted of six members - three 
independent members and three councillors.  This generally worked well but 
Kensington and Chelsea was concerned that they had the bare minimum to deal 
with any complaints if there should be a request for a review.  In the event of one 
of the Independent Members being unavailable or having a conflict of interest, 
the Council might find itself in a difficult position to review the case.  In addition, 
the Council had a 15 day deadline which meant a need to hear cases quite 
promptly.  
 
3.2  Kensington & Chelsea Council were reluctant to appoint more Independent 
Members.  However, they were keen to explore the possibility of an arrangement 
with a neighbouring borough to share members on a temporary co-option basis.  
They have suggested the co-option of an independent member from 
Hammersmith & Fulham Council in light of the existing working together 
arrangement.  
 
3.3 With the Chairman’s agreement, Mr Chris Troke was approached and has  
agreed to be temporarily co-opted to Kensington & Chelsea’s Standards 
Committee, if needed.  This will not affect his current appointment.  A similar 
report is being put to Kensington & Chelsea’s Standards Committee on 21 
October to formalise this arrangement.  The report (attached) mentions that it will 
also be put for approval to this Committee.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000  
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
No. 
 

Brief Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext. of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/Location 
 
1. 
 
 

 
Letter of July 2009 from 
Sophia Lambert 

 
Michael Cogher, Ext 
2700  

 
ACE/Legal, First Floor 
HTH, Rm 133a 

2. 
 
 

Standards Board for 
England’s Local 
Assessment of Complaints 
Toolkit 

Michael Cogher, Ext 
2700 

ACE/Legal, First Floor 
HTH, Rm 133a 

 

Page 24



 
1

THE ROYAL BOROUGH OF KENSINGTON AND CHELSEA 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE – 21 OCTOBER 2009 
 

REPORT BY THE CHIEF SOLICITOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

CO-OPTION OF AN INDENDEPENT MEMBER OF THE LONDON 
BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM STANDARDS 

COMMITTEE 
 
 

 
This report advises on the procedure to be followed for the co-option 
of an independent Member from the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham’s Standards Committee 

FOR DECISION 
 

 
 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Standards Committee currently has 6 Members which is the 

minimum number possible. If a complainant were to request a review 
of a decision of an Initial Assessment Sub-Committee to take no 
action on a complaint, in circumstances where one or more members 
of the Committee were unable to sit on the Review Sub-Committee, 
there would be a problem.  At a meeting between the Chairman and 
the Town Clerk and Chief Executive, the latter agreed that the 
Committee could explore whether an independent Member from 
Hammersmith and Fulham Standards Committee could assist when 
necessary. 

 
2. THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2008 

 
2.1 The above regulations provide that a person who is an independent 

member of the Standards Committee of a different authority may be 
appointed as an independent member of another Standards 
Committee.  This is subject to the proviso that the independent 
Member in question has not been a member or officer of the 
authority within the period of 5 years immediately preceding the date 
of the appointment or is not a relative or close friend of a member or 
officer of the authority.  The regulations provide that the Council may 
adopt such procedures as it thinks fit for the appointment of an 
independent Member from another authority.  In adopting such 
procedures, however, the Council must have regard to any relevant 
guidance issued by the Standards Board. There is no relevant 
guidance. 

 

A7

Page 25



 
2

2.2 Mr Chris Troke, one of the independent members of Hammersmith 
and Fulham Standards Committee, is willing to be appointed as a 
member of this Council’s Standards Committee to make up numbers 
if necessary on the Initial Assessment or Review Sub-Committees. He 
would not otherwise sit on the Committee. The appointment of Mr 
Troke would comply with the requirements of the regulations. 

 
2.2 The appointment of Mr Troke to the Standards Committee will need 

to be agreed by the Administration Committee and then by full 
Council.  The terms of reference of the Standards Committee also 
need to be amended.  Proposed amendments to Article 9 of the 
Constitution are attached as Appendix A.  If the amendments are 
agreed, and Mr Troke is appointed, the Members’ Allowances Scheme 
will need to be amended to make provision for the payment of an 
allowance for any meetings attended. 

 
2.3 A copy of this report will also be considered by Hammersmith and 

Fulham Standards Committee to confirm that the Committee is 
happy with the proposed arrangement. 

 
3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1  There will need to be an amendment to the Members’ Allowances 

Scheme.   
 

4. LEGAL AND PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 None. 
 
5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 Mr Troke was appointed to Hammersmith and Fulham Standards 

Committee following a public advertisement and application process. 
 
6. RECOMMENDATION 
 
6.1 The Standards Committee is recommended to approve the proposed 

appointment and to recommend the appointment and the proposed 
changes to the Constitution to the Administration Committee. 

 
FOR DECISION 

 
LeVerne Parker 

Chief Solicitor and Monitoring Officer 
 

Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: None other than 
previously published documents 
 
Contact officer: LeVerne Parker, Chief Solicitor and Monitoring Officer (t) 020 7361 2180 
(e) leverne.parker@rbkc.gov.uk 

Page 26



P a r t  T w o  -  A r t i c l e  9  
 

ARTICLE 9 - THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 
9.01  Membership  
 

Three Council members other than the Leader (two majority party, one minority 
party) plus three independent voting members. In addition to the three 
independent voting members one independent member of the Standards 
Committee of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham is appointed to 
the Standards Committee solely to sit on the  Initial Assessment Sub-Committee 
or the Review Sub-Committee where necessary. The chairman of the committee 
is one of the independent members. Only one member of the committee may be 
a member of the executive.  The tenure of office for independent members will 
be five years, but this can be extended for a further period. A person may not be 
appointed as an independent member of the Standards Committee or its sub-
committees unless:  
 
(a) Applicants are invited to apply for appointment by an advertisement placed in 

one or more newspapers circulating in the Royal Borough;  
 
(b) The person has submitted an application to the Council;  
 
(c) The person has not been a Councillor or officer of the Council in the five 

years immediately preceding the appointment;  
 
(d) The person is not a close relative or close friend of a Councillor of the 

Council;  
 
(e) The person is not a member or officer of another local authority;  
 
(f) The person has the ability to consider and evaluate information and 

arguments and reach sound, justifiable and fair conclusions based on that 
information;  

 
(g) The person has been interviewed by a sub-committee of the Administration 

Committee; and  
 
(h) The appointment is approved by a majority of the whole Council.  
 
Requirements (a), (b), (g) and (h) do not apply to the independent member of 
the Standards Committee of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham. 

 
9.02  Terms of Reference  
 

(a) To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Councillors and co-
opted members.  

 
(b) To assist Councillors and co-opted members to observe the Members' Code 

of Conduct.  
 

Page 27



P a r t  T w o  -  A r t i c l e  9  
 

(c) To advise the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members' and 
Officers' Codes of Conduct.  

 
(d) To monitor the operation of the Members' and Officers' Codes of Conduct.  
 
(e) To advise, train or arrange to train Councillors and co-opted members on 

matters relating to the Members' Code of Conduct.  
 
(f) To grant dispensations to Councillors and co-opted members from 

requirements relating to interests set out in the Members' Code of Conduct.  
 
(g) To deal with any reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal, and 

any report from the Monitoring Officer on any matter which is referred to him 
or her.  

 
(h) To hear complaints against Councillors and co-optees referred back from the 

Standards Board for England.  
 
(i) To hear complaints against Councillors and co-optees arising from alleged 

breaches of Codes and Protocols.   
 
(j) To adjudicate on any dispute as to entitlement to allowances under the 

Members' Allowances Scheme.  
 
(k) To adjudicate on any allegation of abuse of the Members’ Allowances 

Scheme.  
 
(l) To withdraw allowances under the Members’ Allowances Scheme either whole 

or in part in the event of a Member being suspended or partially suspended.  
 
(m) The Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Standards Committee are entitled to 

speak at meetings of the full Council during the presentation of the 
committee's annual reports.  

 
(n) To consider any application for exemption from political restriction made by an 

officer of the Council and, in relation to that case, give directions to the 
Council. 

 
9.03  In the event that the committee is required to adjudicate on any issue coming 

before it, any such adjudications will be undertaken by a panel of three drawn 
from the committee’s membership, chaired by one of the independent members. 

 
9.04 Initial Assessment Sub-Committee 
 

(a) Membership 
 

Three members of the Standards committee including an independent 
member who shall be the chairman. 

 
(b) Terms of Reference 

Page 28



P a r t  T w o  -  A r t i c l e  9  
 

 
To exercise all functions related to the consideration of allegations of 
failure to comply with the Members Code of Conduct and decide what 
action, if any, to take. 
 

9.05 Review Sub-Committee 
 

(a) Membership 
 

9.06 Three members of the Standards committee including an independent member 
who shall be the chairman.  No member of an Initial Assessment Sub-Committee 
shall sit on a Review sub-committee to consider the same allegation. 

 
(b) Terms of Reference 
 

9.07 To exercise all functions related to the review of any decision by an  Initial 
Assessment sub-committee that no action should be taken in respect of an 
allegation of failure to comply with the Members Code of Conduct and decide 
what action, if any, to take. 

 

Page 29



 STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

4 NOVEMBER 2009 
 
 

 

CONTRIBUTORS 
 
ADLADS 
HCS 

 
MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES 
 
Summary 
 
This report responds to a request from the Committee to 
receive annually a report on the Members’ Allowances 
Scheme and how much was paid to Members in the 
previous year.  
 

WARDS 
 
ALL  

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
 
That the Standards Committee note the report on Members’ 
Allowances, as circulated. 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 30



 70 

1. Background 
 
1.1  As noted at the June meeting, Members receive a financial allowance to 
reflect their roles and responsibilities as a Councillor.  Local authorities are 
required to adopt a Members’ Allowances Scheme on an annual basis, with 
effect from 1 April each year. When amending its Members’ Allowances Scheme, 
a Council must pay regard to the recommendations of its Independent 
Remuneration Panel.  The main allowances paid are basic, special responsibility, 
dependent career and travel and subsistence.  
 
1.2  The June meeting agreed that the Committee should receive an annual 
report setting out the Allowances scheme in detail and confirming the extent of 
individual claims. 
 
2     Allowances Scheme and Amounts Paid 
  
2.1  As agreed at the last meeting, a copy of the Scheme is attached  as well as 
a copy of the Amounts Paid to each Member. 
 
 
 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000  
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
No. 
 

Brief Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext. of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/Location 
 
1. 
 
 

 
Councillors’ Allowances 
Scheme 

 
Michael Cogher, Ext 
2700  

 
ACE/Legal, First Floor 
HTH, Rm 133a 

2. 
 
 

Councillors’ Allowances – 
Amounts Paid 2008-09 

Michael Cogher, Ext 
2700 

ACE/Legal, First Floor 
HTH, Rm 133a 

 

Page 31



Members’ Allowances Scheme 2009-10 
[Scheme effective from 28th May 2009] 

This scheme is made in accordance with the Local Authorities (Members’ 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 (“the Regulations”) for 2009 –2010 and 
subsequent years.  The allowances scheme has been prepared having regard to  
the report of the Independent Panel on the Remuneration of Councillors in London 
established by London Councils on behalf of all London Councils, co-authored by 
Rodney Brooke, Drew Stevenson and Jo Valentine, and published in December 
2006.

1.  BASIC ALLOWANCE 

1.1  The independent remunerator’s report suggests a flat-rate basic allowance be 
paid to each member of the authority of £9,964 per annum to be paid in 12 
monthly instalments on the 15th of each month. 

1.2 The Council has taken into account the independent remunerator’s 
recommendation but has decided to retain its own basic rate allowance frozen 
at the 2008 – 09 level.

.
The basic rate allowance for all LBHF Councillors will therefore be: 

 £8,940 - to be paid in 12 monthly instalments on the 15th of each month. 

Councillors only receive an allowance for the period of their term of office in 
cases where it is less than the whole financial year.  

2. SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES 

2.1 Regard has been had to the recommendations in the independent 
remunerator’s report for differential banding in relation to the payment of 
Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA’s), but in the interest of maintaining a 
low Council Tax and the current economic conditions, it has been decided to 
freeze the Council’s own scheme of SRA’s at the same level approved for 
2008 - 9 and not to follow the independent remunerator’s recommendations 
which would have proved considerably more costly to local council taxpayers. 

2.2 The following Special Responsibility Allowances shall therefore be paid to 
 Councillors holding the specified offices indicated   : 

The Leader £35,763
Deputy Leader £29,796
Other Cabinet members (6) £23,838
Chief Whip (where not a member of Cabinet) £23,838
Deputy Chief Whip £5,000
Chairmen of Overview & Scrutiny Committees (6) £5,000
Leader of the Opposition £17,874

Page 32



Deputy Leader of the Opposition £6,183
Opposition Whip £6,183
Chairmen of Planning Applications Committee, Personnel 
Appeals, Appointments Panel, Audit Committee, Licensing 
Committee/Sub-Committee, & Councillor member on 
Adoption Panel 

£6,183

The Mayor £11,922
Deputy Mayor £6,183
Lead Member HAFFTRA Liaison   £3,000
Lead Member for ALMO VFM Scrutiny and Leaseholder 
Liaison 

£5,000

Lead Member for Customer First £5,000

Councillors only receive an allowance for the period of their term of office in 
cases where it is less than the whole financial year.  A Special Responsibility 
Allowance would cease where the SRA entitled post ceases to exist during year. 

3) OTHER ALLOWANCES 

a) Dependent Carer Allowance 

Dependant carer allowance is payable in respect of expenses incurred for the 
care of a member’s children or dependants in attending meetings of the 
authority, its executive, committees and sub-committees and in discharging 
the duties set out in paragraph 7 of the Regulations.

(1) £4.18 per half hour before 10 p.m.; £5.31 per half hour after 10 p.m. 
(not payable in respect of a member of the councillor’s household). 

b) Travel & Subsistence  

Allowances are payable (at the same rates as employees) for duties 
undertaken away from the Town Halls when discharging duties under 
paragraph 8 of the Regulations.  In addition, the cost of travel after late 
evening meetings from the Town Hall would be paid. 

(1) Public Transport
Actual travel costs (second class only) will be reimbursed. 

(2) Car mileage

Cc first 8500 miles 
(pence per mile) 

above 8500 miles 
 (pence per mile) 

Below 1000 42.9 13.3

1000 or more 46.9 13.6

The figures above are the 2008/9 rates as car mileage is paid at the same 
rate as for officers.  

Page 33



(3) Cycle allowance 
£36.93 per month – where this is claimed, no other travel claims are 
permissible.

(4) Subsistence 
Allowance payable at same rates and conditions as employees.
Payment is only made for expenses incurred outside the Borough, and 
is subject to a maximum of £5.00 per claim. 

c) Sickness, Maternity and Paternity Allowance 

Where a Member is entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance, it will 
continued to be paid in the case of sickness, maternity and paternity leave in 
the same way as employees. 

4) ANNUAL INCREASE 

The allowances in this scheme apply to the financial year 2009-10.  All 
allowances have been frozen at the 2008 – 9 level.  

5) ELECTION TO FOREGO ALLOWANCES 

In accordance with the provisions of regulation 13, a Councillor may, by notice 
in writing to the Chief Executive, elect to forego any part, or all, of his or her 
entitlement to an allowance under this scheme. 

6) TIME LIMIT FOR CLAIMS 

The majority of allowances are payable monthly, but where allowances are 
the subject of claims, these claims should be made in the agreed form with 
the appropriate declaration within six months of the duty to which they relate. 

7) WITHHOLDING OF ALLOWANCES 

In the event of a Councillor being suspended or partially suspended, the 
Standards Committee shall have the power to withhold the allowances 
payable to that Councillor either in whole or in part for the duration of that 
suspension.

8) MEMBERS’ PENSIONS 

Previously, Councillors could only join the authority’s pension scheme if they 
were aged under 70 and could only pay contributions and accrue benefits until 
their 70th birthday.  However, under new pensions regulations, the situation 
has changed, and the independent remunerator’s report now recommends all 
Councillors under the age of 75 years be entitled to join the London Borough 
of Hammersmith & Fulham Pension Scheme, and have their basic allowance 
and special responsibility allowances treated as pensionable.  This 
recommendation has accordingly been adopted. 

Page 34



9) MEMBERSHIP OF MORE THAN ONE AUTHORITY 

A member may not receive allowances from more than one authority (within 
the meaning of the regulations) in respect of the same duties. 

ALLOWANCES FOR CO-OPTED MEMBERS AND INDEPENDENT MEMBERS OF 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE

Co-optees

The independent remunerator’s report recommends a rate of allowance for co-opted 
members of £117 per meeting, to be calculated on an annualised basis by the 
number of meetings.  This recommended figure has not been adopted.  The 
Council’s own figure of £921.00 p.a., frozen at the 2008 – 9 level, will be payable by 
equal monthly instalments of £76.75 on the 15th of each month.

Co-opted members shall be entitled to the same travel allowances as Councillors, 
but shall not be entitled to subsistence payments 

Standards Committee Independent Members

The independent remunerator’s report also recommends the independent Chairman 
of a Standards Committee be paid an allowance of £240 per meeting, calculated on 
an annualised basis by the number of meetings, to reflect not just attendance at 
meetings, but related and incidental additional activity carried out by this particular 
postholder.  This recommendation has not been adopted.  The Council’s own figure 
of £459.00 p.a., frozen at the 2008 – 9 level, will be payable by equal monthly 
instalments of £38.25 on the 15th of each month.

In all cases, the allowances given in this scheme shall not be uprated by the same 
percentage rate of increase as the previous years national Local Government Pay 
Settlement but frozen at the 2008 – 9 levels. 

Page 35



Allowances Paid to Councillors in 2008/09

Name

Members
Basic
Allowance

Members
Special
Responsibility
Allowance

Dependant
Care
Allowance

Travel and 
Subsistence
Allowance

Total
Payments

Greenhalgh Stephen 8,940.00 36,727.02 45,667.02
Botterill Nicholas 8,940.00 29,796.00 38,736.00
Lillis Antony 8,940.00 23,838.00 32,778.00
Bristow Paul 8,940.00 23,838.00 32,778.00
Stainton Frances 8,940.00 23,838.00 32,778.00
Smith Gregory 8,940.00 23,838.00 32,778.00
Loveday Mark 8,112.00 22,595.04 30,707.04
Ivimy Lucy 8,940.00 21,085.34 30,025.34
Cowan Stephen 8,940.00 17,874.00 26,814.00
Alford Adronie 8,940.00 17,376.49 26,316.49
Johnson Andrew 8,940.00 11,027.21 19,967.21
Binmore Helen 8,940.00 7,346.65 16,286.65
Phibbs Harry 8,940.00 7,147.01 16,087.01
Brocklebank-Fowler Victoria 8,940.00 6,183.00 15,123.00
Aherne Colin 8,940.00 6,183.00 15,123.00
Cartwright K 8,940.00 6,183.00 15,123.00
Karmel Alex 8,940.00 6,183.00 15,123.00
White Eugenie 8,940.00 5,184.48 443.16 14,567.64
Iggulden Robert 8,940.00 5,218.98 14,158.98
Chalk Alexander 8,940.00 5,218.98 14,158.98
Tobias Peter 8,940.00 5,184.48 14,124.48
Johnson Donald 8,940.00 5,184.48 14,124.48
Ffiske Caroline 8,940.00 5,184.48 14,124.48
Law Jane 8,940.00 4,220.46 13,160.46
Hamilton Stephen 8,940.00 4,220.46 13,160.46
Donovan Gavin 8,940.00 3,496.28 12,436.28
Donovan Belinda 8,940.00 1,424.30 443.16 10,807.46
Scott Russell Minnie 8,940.00 1,858.81 10,798.81
Bethell William 8,940.00 964.02 9,904.02
Robson Alexandra 8,940.00 855.18 9,795.18
Burley Aidan 8,940.00 590.88 9,530.88
Owen Edmund 8,940.00 443.16 9,383.16
Gore Sarah 8,940.00 175.60 9,115.60
Vaughan Rory 8,940.00 8,940.00
Powell Sally 8,940.00 606.10 9,546.10
McLaughlin Reg 8,940.00 8,940.00
Harcourt Wesley 8,940.00 8,940.00
Umeh Mercy 8,940.00 8,940.00
Adam Michael 8,940.00 8,940.00
Dickenson Gillian 8,940.00 8,940.00
Homan Lisa 8,940.00 8,940.00
Ford Rachel 8,940.00 8,940.00
Gugen Lucy 8,940.00 8,940.00
Nandy Lisa 8,940.00 8,940.00
Campbell Jean 8,940.00 8,940.00
De Lisle Alexander 8,170.96 8,170.96

409,642.96 336,994.67 3,061.18 1,920.36 751,619.17

Page 36



Coopted Members
Pettavel Michael 921.00 921.00
Flynn Thomas 921.00 921.00
Shears Eleanor 921.00 921.00
Brenton Maria 921.00 921.00
Dolan Kathleen 921.00 921.00
Hutchinson Pauline 636.28 636.28
Wright Janet 611.44 841.69
Cook Fiona 230.25 230.25
Moussavi Sheida 459.00 459.00
Troke Christopher 459.00 459.00
Moody-Smart Grace 459.00 459.00
Epstein Joyce 387.44 387.44
Mohamed Mohamed 230.25 230.25
Fennimore Sue 200.54 200.54
King John 163.73 163.73

8,672.18

Page 37



 STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

4 NOVEMBER 2009 
 
 

 

CONTRIBUTORS 
 
ADLADS 
HCS 

 
DISPENSATION GUIDANCE 
 
Summary 
 
This report outlines recent Guidance issued by Standards 
for England and how it affects this Council. 
 

WARDS 
 
ALL 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
That the revised Guidance be noted. 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 38



 70 

1. Background 
 
1.1  Standards for England Bulletin 44 outlined changes made to the Regulations 
on dispensations.  The Standards Committee (Further Provisions) (England) 
Order 2009 makes changes to the criteria for granting dispensations for 
members to speak and vote when they havea prejudicial interest. 
 
1.2 A standards committee can grant a dispensation to a member:- 
 

•  where more than 50% of the members who would be entitled to vote at a 
meeting are prohibited from voting OR 

•  where the number of members that are prohibited from voting at a 
meeting would upset the political balance of the meeting to the extent that 
the outcome of voting would be prejudiced. 

 
1.3  To decide whether these criteria apply, members must ignore any 
dispensations that have already been given to others at the meeting. The 
requirement to ignore any dispensations already granted means that any 
previously granted dispensations are disregarded for the purposes of working out 
whether the two circumstances above apply.  So, if there were ten members on a 
committee, six of whom would not be able to vote on some business, all six can 
claim a dispensation. If previously granted dispensations were not disregarded, a 
situation could arise where once two people had been granted 2 dispensations, 
the remaining four would be ineligible. This is because at that point there 
would be less than 50% of the committee who could not vote. 
 
1.4  Even if the criteria apply, members cannot get a dispensation to: 

• allow them to take part in voting at an overview and scrutiny committee 
about a decision made by any body of which they were a member at the 
time the decision was taken 

• allow an executive member with a prejudicial interest in an item of 
executive business to take an executive decision about it on their own 

 
1.5  Ultimately it is for an authority’s standards committee to decide what criteria 
they will apply when considering a request. The criteria that will be applied and 
the process that will be followed should be made available to all members by the 
standards committee. 
 
1.6  By law, a member must submit an application in writing for consideration by 
the standards committee. It is up to the standards committee whether or not they 
grant a dispensation and there is no right of appeal from their decision.  A 
standards committee can decide the nature of any dispensation it grants. For 
example, the dispensation may allow a member to speak and not vote, or to fully 
participate and vote. The committee can also decide how long the dispensation 
should apply, although it cannot be longer than four years. After four years has 
elapsed since a dispensation was granted, it can no longer be used. 
 
1.7  The decision must be recorded in writing and must be kept with the register 
of interests maintained by the monitoring officer. 

Page 39



 71 

 
1.8 New guidance on dispensations has been issued by SfE. This is attached.  
The Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services) will report on how this 
affects Members in Hammersmith & Fulham. 
 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000  
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
No. 
 

Brief Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext. of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/Location 
 
1. 
 
 

 
SfE Bulletin 44 

 
Michael Cogher, Ext 
2700  

 
ACE/Legal, First Floor 
HTH, Rm 133a 

2. 
 
 

SfE Guidance Michael Cogher, Ext 
2700 

ACE/Legal, First Floor 
HTH, Rm 133a 

 

Page 40



DISPENSATIONS

Page 41



30
/0

7/
20

09

contents

DISPENSATIONS 1

Granting dispensations under the new regulations 3
Legal requirements for granting dispensations 4
Issues and criteria to consider when granting dispensations 5
Considerations for dealing with dispensation requests 5
Practical guidance on the process for granting
dispensations and recording them 6

Page 42



30
/0

7/
20

09

This guidance on dispensations is aimed
at standards committees. It is not
mandatory but has been written to help
describe when standards committees can
grant dispensations for members allowing
them to speak and vote at a meeting when
they have a prejudicial interest.

introduction

2 DISPENSATIONS Page 43



30
/0

7/
20

09

Granting dispensations under
the new regulations

The legislation states standards
committees can grant dispensations for
members allowing them to speak and vote
at a meeting when they have a prejudicial
interest. The criteria for granting these
dispensations changed in June 2009

Concerns were raised by some authorities,
as well as the Standards Board for
England, about the provisions of previous
dispensation regulations. Due to these
concerns, the Standards Committee
(Further Provisions) (England) Regulations
2009 (the regulations) revoke the previous
regulations. They replace them with new
provisions to clarify the grounds on which
standards committees may grant
dispensations to local authority members.

Under Section 54A(1) of the Local
Government Act 2000 an authority’s
standards committee can set up a sub-
committee to consider requests for
dispensations. Any reference in this
guidance to the standards committee
includes any sub-committee which has this
function.

Dispensations may be granted for
speaking only, or for speaking and voting.
The 2007 Code of Conduct (the Code)
relaxed the provisions for restricting
members from speaking. Therefore, the
need to request a dispensation in this
respect is now limited to circumstances
where the public do not have the right to
speak, or to where a parish or police
authority has not adopted paragraph 12(2)
of the Code. 

Part 4 of the regulations sets out the

circumstances in which a standards
committee can grant dispensations to
members of relevant authorities in
England, and police authorities in Wales. If
a member acts in accordance with the
granting of a dispensation, taking part in
business otherwise prohibited by an
authority’s code of conduct would not
result in a failure to comply with that code.

A standards committee may grant a
dispensation to a member or co-opted
member of an authority in the following
circumstances:

! where more than 50% of the members
who would be entitled to vote at a
meeting are prohibited from voting OR

! where the number of members that are
prohibited from voting at a meeting
would upset the political balance of the
meeting to the extent that the outcome
of voting would be prejudiced. 
Note: Although the Regulations are not
explicit, political balance is a legal
formula, set out in the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989 and
associated regulations. It applies only
to relevant authorities and places an
obligation on them to reflect the political
balance of their elected members when
determining who should sit on certain
committees. It does not apply to parish
councils.

Standards committees must ignore any
dispensations that have already been
given to others at the meeting to decide
whether either of these criteria apply.

There are two exceptions to this:

! Members cannot be given a
dispensation allowing them to vote in

dispensations

DISPENSATIONS 3Page 44



30
/0

7/
20

09

overview and scrutiny committees
about decisions made by any body they
were a member of at the time the
decision was taken.

! A dispensation cannot be given to allow
an executive member with a prejudicial
interest in an item of executive
business to take an executive decision
about it on their own. 

The dispensation granted may apply to
just one meeting or it may be applicable on
an ongoing basis. However, the
dispensation cannot be used to allow
participation in the business of the
authority if it was granted more than four
years ago.

Legal requirements for
granting dispensations

1) Standards committees can grant a
dispensation if more than 50% of
members have a prejudicial interest in
an item of business to be discussed at
a meeting which is covered by their
code of conduct. They must ignore
any members who have already been
granted dispensations when doing this
(see paragraph [*]). The list of
meetings is set out in paragraph 1(4)
of the Model Code of Conduct
contained in the Local Authorities
(Model Code of Conduct) Order 2007.
These are meetings of:

! the authority

! its executive and its committees and
sub-committees

! any other committees, sub-
committees, joint committees, joint
sub-committees or area committees
of the authority.

2) Standards committees can grant a
dispensation for an item of business if
the political balance of a meeting
would be upset enough to prejudice
the outcome of the vote. They must
ignore any members who have
already been granted dispensations
when doing this (see paragraph [*]).
This means that due to the number of
members who are prevented from
voting the political balance of the
committee is changed. This is similar
to a provision that has been in
existence in Wales for some time. As
before, this does not apply to parish
councils as they are not bound by the
political balance rules.

[*]The requirement to ignore any
members who have already been
granted dispensations means that
standards committees should
disregard any previously granted
dispensations in order to work out
whether the two circumstances above
apply. 

So, if there were ten members on a
committee, six of whom would not be
able to vote on some business, all six
can claim a dispensation. If previously
granted dispensations were not
disregarded, once two people had
been granted dispensations, the
remaining four would be ineligible
because at that point 50% of the
committee would be able to vote.

In addition it is necessary to consider
if any of the exceptions set out above
apply.

dispensations

4 DISPENSATIONS Page 45



30
/0

7/
20

09

Issues and criteria to
consider when granting
dispensations

The number of members in each political
group on an authority could affect the
eligibility to apply for a dispensation. 

In situations where one political party has
a large majority on an authority, and
therefore on its committees, members of
that political party will not be eligible to
apply for a dispensation frequently under
the criterion for political balance (see page
3). Where an authority has two or more
political parties, and the number of
members that each party has is fairly
evenly balanced, the eligibility to apply for
a dispensation will rise.

Clearly there is a difference between being
eligible to apply for a dispensation and it
being appropriate for that dispensation to
be granted. We recommend that the
standards committee considers the need
for criteria to be applied to requests for
dispensations. The committee will need to
balance the prejudicial interest of the
member seeking the dispensation to vote
on an item of business, against the
potential effect on the outcome of the vote
if the member is unable to do so. 

Considerations for dealing
with dispensation requests

Q. Is the nature of the member’s
interest such that allowing them to
participate would not damage
public confidence in the conduct of
the authority’s business?

For instance, it is unlikely that it would
be appropriate to grant a dispensation

to a member who has a prejudicial
interest arising as a result of an effect
on their personal financial position or
on that of a relative. The adverse
public perception of the personal
benefit to the member would probably
outweigh any public interest in
maintaining the political balance of the
committee making the decision. This
is especially where an authority has
well-established processes for
members on committees to be
substituted by members from the
same political party.

However, the prejudicial interest could
arise from the financial effect the
decision might have on a public body
of which they are a member. In such
cases, it is possible that any public
interest in maintaining the political
balance of the committee making the
decision might be given greater
prominence.

Q. Is the interest common to the
member and a significant
proportion of the general public?

For example, the member might be a
pensioner who is considering an item
of business about giving access to a
local public facility at reduced rates for
pensioners. Some cautious members
might regard this as a possible
prejudicial interest. However, as a
significant proportion of the population
in the area are also likely to be
pensioners, it might be appropriate to
grant a dispensation in these
circumstances.

dispensations

DISPENSATIONS 5Page 46



30
/0

7/
20

09

Q. Is the participation of the member
in the business that the interest
relates to justified by the member's
particular role or expertise?

For instance, a member might
represent the authority on another
public body – such as a fire or police
authority – and have particular
expertise in the work of that body.
Therefore it may be appropriate for
that member to be allowed to address
the decision-making body, even where
there is no right for the public to do so.
This would mean that the body would
have the benefit of the member’s
expertise before making a decision
which would benefit it financially. 

Q. Is the business that the interest
relates to about a voluntary
organisation or a public body which
is to be considered by an overview
and scrutiny committee? And is 
the member's interest not a
financial one?

In circumstances such as these, the
standards committee might believe
that it is in the interests of the
authority’s inhabitants to remove the
incapacity from speaking or voting.

Practical guidance on the
process for granting
dispensations and 
recording them

The process for making requests for
dispensations, the criteria that will be
applied and the process that will be
followed when the request is considered
should all be clearly understood by those

concerned. Therefore, standards
committees should set all this out and
make it available to members.

A member must submit an application in
writing explaining why a dispensation is
desirable. Only the member can do this –
they can’t ask somebody else to do it on
their behalf. It is sensible to send that
application to the monitoring officer so that
they can arrange for it to be considered by
their standards committee.

A standards committee meeting must be
convened to consider the application for a
dispensation. Therefore, it is not possible
to grant a dispensation as a matter of
urgency to deal with emergency business.

The committee must consider the legal
criteria set out on pages 3 – 4, including
the exceptions. They must also consider
any other relevant circumstances. These
can include any local criteria they have
adopted. 

The committee will need to consider
whether the member making the request
will be allowed to make oral
representations to the committee or
whether the application will be dealt with
only through written representations.

A standards committee has the discretion
to decide the nature of any dispensation.
For example, the committee may consider
that it is appropriate that the dispensation
allows the member to speak and not vote,
or to fully participate and vote. The
committee can also decide how long the
dispensation should apply, although it
cannot be longer than four years.

dispensations

6 DISPENSATIONS Page 47



30
/0

7/
20

09

It is our view that the regulations do not
allow standards committees to issue
general dispensations to cover members
for any situation where a prejudicial
interest may arise. The regulations refer to
circumstances that arise at “a meeting”.
Therefore, we would expect most
dispensations to cover a specific item of
business at one meeting of the authority.

The decision must be recorded in writing
and must be kept with the register of
interests established and maintained
under Section 81 (1) of the Local
Government Act 2000.

Standards committees can refuse to grant
a dispensation. The regulations allow for
standards committees to use their
discretion rather than impose an obligation
for them to grant dispensations.

dispensations

DISPENSATIONS 7Page 48



STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

4 NOVEMBER 2009 
 
 

 

CONTRIBUTORS 
 
ADLADS 
HCS 

 
PROBITY IN PLANNING 
 
Summary 
 
This report outlines recent guidance issued by the Local 
Government Association about a revised Code of Conduct 
for Members in relation to Planning. 
 

WARDS 
 
ALL  

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
That the revised Guidance be noted and Members of the 
Planning Applications Committee be informed of the 
changes. 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 49



 70 

1. Background 
 
1.1  As the Committee will know, there is a separate Guidance Note for Members 
dealing with Planning and Licensing, based partly on the LGA’s “Guidance on 
Probity in Planning”. This is on pages 510-520 of the Constitution – attached as 
Appendix 1. 
 
1.2  The LGA’s Guidance has now been revised and the new version is attached 
as Appendix 2 .  Officers will ensure that Members are made aware of this 
revised Code through  
• A briefing prior to a Planning Applications Committee in the next few 

weeks 
• Incorporating it into the Members’ Induction programme from May 2010 for 

both returning and newly elected Members.. 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000  
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
No. 
 

Brief Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext. of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/Location 
 
1. 
 
 

 
LGA Revised “Probity in 
Planning” Guidance. 

 
Michael Cogher, Ext 
2700  

 
ACE/Legal, First Floor 
HTH, Rm 133a 

 

Page 50



GUIDANCE FOR COUNCILLORS AND OFFICERS DEALING 
WITH PLANNING AND LICENSING 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1  This guidance should be read alongside the statutory Members’ Code 
of Conduct, which was issued to all Councillors on taking office and 
which they have given a signed undertaking to observe. The Members’ 
Code of Conduct is set out elsewhere in part 5 of this Constitution. 

1.2 This guidance reflects the outcome of the work of the Nolan Committee 
on Conduct in Local Government, previous work by the local authority 
associations, and advice issued by the Audit Commission, the 
Standards Board for England, the Local Government Ombudsman, and 
the various professional bodies in the planning field. The guidance also 
incorporates much of the advice set out in the Local Government 
Association publication ‘Probity in Planning’ published in November 
1997. Parts of that guidance (e.g. on site visits) are not considered 
relevant or appropriate to the handling of planning issues within an 
inner London Borough, and therefore are not followed by this Council. 

1.3 While the guidance has no statutory status, failure to observe its 
recommendations without good reason may be taken into account in 
any investigations for maladministration, or by the Council’s Standards 
Committee when investigating allegations of breach of the Code of 
Conduct.

2. TRAINING OF COUNCILLORS 

2.1 It is the Council’s policy to arrange training for all Councillors serving 
on the Planning and Licensing Committees. Councillors must 
undertake this training prior to serving on these Committees. 

2.2  In relation to licensing issues, the procedures followed by the Council’s 
Licensing Sub-Committee are set down in detailed guidance 
documents issued to both the applicant and other interest parties. 
These will be reviewed in the light of experience of the working of the 
Licensing Act 2003. Further advice for Councillors and officers involved 
in the licensing process is set out later on in this protocol. 

3. GENERAL ROLE AND CONDUCT OF COUNCILLORS AND 
OFFICERS 

3.1  The basis of the planning system is the consideration of private 
proposals against wider public interests. While Councillors on the 
Planning Applications Committee will need to take account of the 

Page 51



relevant views of their constituents (which also includes those who did 
not vote for them), they must be careful not to favour any person, 
group, company or locality, nor put themselves in a position where they 
appear to do so, during their involvement in the decision-making 
process. Nor must they give the impression that they have ‘made up 
their minds’ in relation to any particular matter before it is determined. 

3.2 Councillors serving on the Licensing Sub-Committee must determine 
each application on the evidence presented by both the applicant and 
interested parties at a hearing. Councillors need to take account of 
relevant representations made by interested parties who may or may 
not be their constituents, but should not favour any person, group, 
company or locality, nor put themselves in a position where they 
appear to do so, in making the decision. Councillors are barred from 
sitting on any Licensing Sub-Committees determining applications 
which fall within their own wards only where they have a prejudicial 
interest under the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

3.3 The advice in the Code of Conduct on dealing with gifts and hospitality 
can be particularly relevant when dealing with planning and licensing 
issues. Councillors and officers should be very circumspect in 
response to any offers of gifts and hospitality, should seek appropriate 
advice where necessary, and should record in the relevant register any 
gifts or hospitality they do receive. This applies particularly in 
circumstances where it is known that planning or licensing applications 
have been submitted, or are likely to be submitted, by the parties 
making such offers. 

4. DECLARATION AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS 

4.1 The requirements and guidance for registering and declaring interests 
are set out in the statutory Members’ Code of Conduct and in the 
officers’ Code of Conduct. The Local Government Ombudsman’s 
publication ‘Guidance for Good Practice on Members’ Interests’ also 
provides helpful advice. 

4.2 All Councillors are required to register, and keep up to date, a written 
declaration of their interests in a Register held by the Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic Services).  Officers are required to register their 
interests on Departmental registers, held by their departmental 
personnel sections. 

4.3 Detailed guidance on dealing with members’ personal and prejudicial
interests can be obtained from the Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services) or the Assistant Head of Legal Services. The 
general tests for deciding whether a personal or prejudicial interest 
exists are set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct. Whilst Members 
are encouraged to obtain guidance and advice on declaring interests 
from the Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services), 

Page 52



ultimately, the responsibility for declaring any interest lies with the 
individual Councillors themselves. 

4.4  Where a Councillor has declared a prejudicial interest, he/she must 
not take any further part in the proceedings (i.e. not speak or vote) and 
should normally withdraw from the meeting unless a dispensation has 
been obtained beforehand from the Council’s Standards Committee. 
This is discussed in more detail below. 

5. DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLORS, 
OFFICERS AND THE COUNCIL 

5.1 In circumstances where current or former Councillors or officers, or 
their close friends and relatives, are involved in submitting planning 
applications which would ordinarily be dealt with by officers, it is 
important that such applications are processed without suspicion of any 
impropriety. Where situations arise which could, in the opinion of the 
Monitoring Officer, create significant questions in the minds of the 
public, such applications should be referred to the Planning 
Applications Committee for determination. 

5.2 Proposals for the Council’s own development should be treated in the 
same way as those from private developers, in accordance with 
Circular I9/92, particularly in relation to officer advice. 

6. LOBBYING OF AND BY COUNCILLORS 

(NOTE: This section repeats verbatim paragraphs 7.1 - 7.9 of the 
LGA Guidance on Probity in Planning). 

6.1  It is important to recognise that lobbying is a normal and perfectly 
proper part of the political process: those who may be affected by a 
planning decision will often seek to influence it through an approach to 
their elected ward member or to a member of the planning committee. 
As the Nolan Committee’s Third Reports states.’ ‘It is essential for the 
proper operation of the planning system that local concerns are 
adequately ventilated. The most effective and suitable way that this can 
be done is via the local elected representatives, the Councillors 
themselves’. Any code of conduct which fails to take account of the 
realities of the political representative process will not carry credibility 
with experienced elected members. 

6.2   However, such lobbying can, unless care and common sense are 
exercised by all the parties concerned, lead to the impartiality and 
integrity of a Councillor being called into question. When being lobbied, 
Councillors, and members of the planning committee in particular; 
should take care about expressing an opinion which may be taken as 
indicating that they have already made up their mind on the issue 

Page 53



before they have been exposed to all the evidence and arguments. In 
such situations, they should restrict themselves to giving procedural 
advice, including suggesting to those who are lobbying, that they 
should speak or write to the relevant officer, in order that their opinions 
can be included in the officer’s report to the Committee. If they do 
express an opinion, they should make it clear that they will only be in a 
position to take a final decision after having heard all the relevant 
evidence and arguments at Committee. 

6.3  It should be remembered that the reports on North Cornwall and 
Warwick were both greatly concerned with the issue of lobbying. In 
both cases, lobbying had caused considerable public mistrust of the 
Councils. 

6.4 Councillors and members of the planning committee in particular; need 
to take account of the general public’s (and the Ombudsman’s) 
expectation that a planning application will be processed and 
determined in a transparently open and fair manner, in which members 
taking the decision will take account of all the evidence presented 
before arriving at a decision, and that to commit themselves one way or 
the other before hearing all the arguments and evidence makes them 
vulnerable to an accusation of partiality. It is probably misleading to 
describe the determination of a planning application strictly as a ‘quasi-
judicial’ process (unlike say, certain licensing functions carried out by 
the local authority), but it is a formal administrative process involving 
rules of procedure, rights of appeal and an expectation that people will 
act reasonably and fairly, with the added possibility that an aggrieved 
party may seek Judicial Review of the way in which a decision has 
been arrived at, or complain to the Ombudsmen on grounds of 
maladministration. 

6.5  In reality, of course, members will often form a judgement about an 
application early on in its passage through the system, whether or not 
they have been lobbied. The difficulty created by the nature of the 
planning committee’s proceedings as set out in paragraph 20 above is 
that members of the committee (at least those who are not Councillors 
for the affected ward - see below) should not openly declare which way 
they intend to vote in advance of the planning committee meeting, and 
of hearing the evidence and arguments on both sides. 

6.6  Political reality suggests that it is often important to distinguish between 
the role of the planning committee member who is, and who is not, a 
ward member for the area affected by a particular planning application. 
A planning committee member who does not represent the ward 
affected is in an easier position to adopt a (formally) impartial stance, 
however strong his or her feelings about the application may be, and to 
wait until the Committee meeting before declaring one way or the 
other.

Page 54



6.7  A planning committee member who represents a ward affected by an 
application is in a difficult position if it is a controversial application 
around which a lot of lobbying takes place. If the member responds to 
lobbying by deciding to go public in support of a particular outcome - or
even campaigns actively for it - it will be very difficult for that member to 
argue convincingly, when the committee comes to take its decision, 
that he/she has carefully weighed the evidence and arguments 
presented -perhaps in some respect for the first time - at committee. 
Although not amounting to a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest (sic) 
[nowadays personal or prejudicial interest] according to the National 
Code, the proper course of action for such a member would be to make 
an open declaration and not to vote. This is, however; a severe 
restriction on the member’s wish duty even to represent the views of 
the electorate, and in most cases short of such high profile, active 
lobbying for a particular outcome, it should be possible for a member to 
give support to a particular body of opinion whilst waiting until the 
planning committee and hearing all the evidence presented before 
making a final decision. 

6.8  It should be evident from the previous paragraphs that it is very difficult 
to find a form of words which covers every nuance of these situations 
and which gets the balance right between the duty to be an active ward 
representative and what the (previous) National Code of Local 
Government Conduct calls the “‘overriding duty as a Councillor to the 
whole local community”. 

6.9  It cannot be stressed too strongly that the striking of this balance is, 
ultimately, the responsibility of the individual member, and that in doing 
so, regard needs to be paid to the general rules laid down in the 
(previous) National Code, particularly paragraphs 4 (‘Whilst you may 
be strongly influenced by the views of others, and of your party in 
particular; it is your responsibility alone to decide what view to take on 
any question which Councillors have to decide’) and 6 (‘You should 
never do anything as a Councillor which you could not justify to the 
public).

6.10   A local code should also address the following more specific issues 
about lobbying: 

•  Given that the point at which a decision on a planning 
application is made cannot occur before the planning committee 
meeting, when all available information is to hand and has been 
duly considered, any political-group meeting prior to the 
committee meeting should not be used to decide how 
Councillors should vote. The view of the Ombudsmen is that the 
use of political ‘whips’ at group meetings in this way is contrary 
to the (previous) National Code, amounting to maladministration. 
(See also paragraph 4 of the National Code, reproduced above.) 

Page 55



•  With the exception in some circumstances of ward Councillors, 
whose position has already been covered in the preceding 
paragraphs, Councillors should in general avoid organising 
support for or opposition to a planning application, and avoid 
lobbying other Councillors. Such actions can easily be 
misunderstood by parties to the application and by the general 
public.

•  Councillors should not put pressure on officers for a particular 
recommendation. 

•  Councillors who are unsure whether an interest should be 
declared should seek the advice of the council’s monitoring 
officer; although, as indicated above, the decision rests with the 
Councillor. 

7. PRE-APPLICATION DISCUSSIONS (PLANNING AND LICENSING) 

7.1  Discussions between a potential applicant and the Council, especially 
on larger and/or more complex development proposals before the 
submission of a planning application, can be of considerable benefit to 
both parties. Potential applicants may seek meetings to discuss fairly 
detailed proposals, or they may wish to explore basic planning 
requirements before committing to initial design or even before 
acquiring a site. In some cases, prospective site purchasers may be in 
competition and the advice they seek will affect their tender price. In all 
such cases, it is beneficial for the Council to be able to advise at an 
early stage on how planning policy would be applied and known local 
factors taken into account. 

7.2   Pre-application discussions on planning matters must be handled 
carefully, particularly because the prospective applicant will often 
expect them to take place on a confidential basis for commercial 
reasons. It is also important to avoid any discussions becoming, or 
even being seen to be, part of a lobbying process that could prejudice 
proper consideration of a subsequent planning application and any 
public consultation. 

7.3   To avoid problems arising, the following guidelines should be followed 
(and they apply equally to meetings held after an application has been 
made):

•  It must always be made clear at the outset that the discussion 
will not bind the Council to making a particular decision on a 
planning application, and that any views expressed by officers or 
Councillors are personal and provisional. By the very nature of 
such meetings, not all relevant information will be to hand; 
neither will formal consultations with interested parties have 
taken place. 

Page 56



•  Advice must be consistent and based on the statutory 
development plan and known material considerations. There 
should be no significant difference of interpretation of planning 
policies between planning officers. In addition, all officers taking 
part in such discussions should make clear whether or not they 
are responsible for making the recommendation to Committee 
(or have delegated authority to determine applications). 

•  A written note should be made of potentially contentious 
meetings or telephone discussions, and a follow-up letter will 
normally be sent when documentary material has been left with 
the Council. If Councillors are present at meetings, at least one 
officer should also attend. 

•  Care must be taken to ensure that advice is impartial.  In cases 
where there is competition between prospective purchasers or 
design consultants, officers will prepare a note on the 
application of normal planning policy and other known material 
considerations to the site. This will be used to ensure 
consistency of advice. 

7.4 Any pre-application discussions on licensing matters are normally 
between officers and either the applicant or interested parties. 

8. PREDETERMINATION 

8.1  Members must not when being lobbied or involved with pre-application 
discussions conduct themselves in a way that suggests that they have 
predetermined the matter or are approaching it with a ‘closed mind’. 
Predetermination is likely to give rise to ‘apparent bias’ which may 
result in the decision in question being quashed by the High Court on 
an application for Judicial Review. 

9. OFFICER REPORTS TO COMMITTEES 

9.1  The LGA guidance sets out five points for officers to take into account 
in preparing reports on planning applications. These reflect good 
practice, and failure to adhere to them could give rise to 
maladministration findings or judicial review of a decision. 

•  Reports should be accurate, and cover, among other things, the 
substance of relevant objections and the views of people who 
have been consulted, as recommended by the Ombudsman in 
their Guidance Note No 2. 

Page 57



•  Relevant points will include a clear exposition of the 
development plan, site or related history, and any other material 
consideration.

•  Reports should have a clear written recommendation of action. 
Oral reporting (except to update a report) should be extremely 
rare and carefully minuted when it does occur. 

•  Reports should contain a technical appraisal which clearly 
justifies the recommendation. 

•   If the report’s recommendation is contrary to the provisions of 
the development plan, the material considerations which justify 
this must be clearly stated. 

10. PUBLIC SPEAKING AT PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

10.1 There are no public speaking rights at Planning Applications 
Committee. Written petitions made on a planning application are 
incorporated into the officer report to Planning Applications Committee. 
Petitioners, as members of the public, are welcome to attend meetings, 
but are not permitted to speak. They can however be represented by 
their Ward Councillor, who may address the Committee. Deputation 
requests are not accepted on applications for planning permission. 

11. DECISIONS CONTRARY TO OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 
AND/OR DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

11.1  Officers’ reports on planning applications must make clear when 
proposals are not in accordance with the statutory development plan. 
All such applications are advertised in accordance with the 
requirements of Article 8 of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order 1995. Where officers’ reports 
recommend the grant of planning permission for departure 
applications, the report will include a full justification for the departure, 
clearly identifying the circumstances which led to a recommendation to 
override the statutory development plan. The Committee report will be 
forwarded to the Secretary of State if the application is one which 
requires referral under the regulations. 

11.2  If the Committee makes a planning decision contrary to the officers’ 
recommendation (whether for approval or refusal), their reasons for 
doing so must be made clear and recorded in the Committee minutes. 
Officers will be able to assist in formulating technically correct reasons 
for refusal or additional planning conditions based on Members’ clearly 
expressed wishes. If this is the case, it should either happen during the 
meeting, or be delegated to planning officers by the Committee. This 
too should be clearly recorded in the minutes. 

Page 58



12. SITE VISITS 

12.1  Visits by members of the Planning Applications Committee to 
development sites will not normally take place. If, due to the 
exceptional circumstances of a particular case, the Committee wishes 
to organise a site visit, this shall be by resolution of the Committee and 
will involve the attendance of appropriate planning officers as well. The 
application or enforcement case in question will then be determined 
either by a subsequent formal meeting of the Committee, or by officers 
acting under authority delegated to them by the Council, or by specific 
resolution of the Planning Applications Committee. 

13. PARTY GROUP PRACTICES AT LBHF IN RESPECT OF PLANNING 
MATTERS

13.1  The Nolan Committee recognised that Councillors exercise, quite 
properly, two roles in the planning system. They determine 
applications, and also act as representatives of public opinion in their 
areas. Nolan recognised the importance of guidance to enable 
Councillors to achieve the ‘delicate balance’ in undertaking these two 
roles. Very prescriptive requirements on, for example, pre-application 
discussions, were not favoured by Nolan, as not necessarily being 
appropriate to all local authorities. It was felt that authorities should 
have some room to determine their own ground rules, within a local 
code.

13.2  In respect of ‘lobbying’ of and by Councillors, London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham is content to work within the guidelines 
developed by the LGA. Some additional local factors in respect of party 
group consideration of planning issues should, however, be noted by 
Councillors. 

a)  The political parties on the Council may develop general policies 
towards different types of development within the borough and 
discuss these within group meetings. 

b)  There will be occasions when specific development proposals or 
planning applications are discussed within pre-meetings, prior to 
formal determination at Committee. The Council does not 
consider such discussions to represent the ‘fettering of 
discretion’ of Councillors subsequently determining planning 
applications, provided individual Councillors have regard to all 
relevant considerations at the time of voting on an application. 

c)  The Ombudsman generally regards a planning decision based 
on whipping as maladministration.

.

Page 59



d) It is the view of all parties on the Council that the political 
conventions and practices operated within the Council reflect a 
proper balance between the two roles Councillors are expected 
to undertake, as identified by the Nolan Report. 

14. COUNCILLORS AND LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HEARINGS 

14.1 The Council’s Licensing Sub-Committee deals with all licensing 
applications under the Licensing Act 2003, together with some 
miscellaneous non-Licensing Act functions, such as street trading. 

14.2  Where the Licensing Sub-Committee is dealing with an application 
under the Licensing Act 2003, the Act imposes limitations as to who 
may appear before the Sub-Committee and make representations to it. 
(NB: this does not apply to hearings concerning non-Licensing Act 
functions). In such cases, Councillors do not automatically have a right 
to attend and make representations by virtue of their office. A member 
may represent interested parties who have made relevant 
representations at their request. 

   14.3  However, members whose eligibility to speak arises because they are 
themselves an interested party will almost certainly have a personal 
interest and will need to consider whether they havea prejudicial 
interest which may prevent them from attending (see below). Members 
wishing to speak at Licensing Sub-Committee hearings are advised to 
obtain advice in advance from the Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services) or Assistant Head of Legal Services. 

15. APPLICATION OF THE COUNCILLORS’ CODE OF CONDUCT 

15.1  Even if a Councillor is eligible to speak at a committee meeting, he/she 
may still be required to declare a personal interest and, if a prejudicial 
interest arises, such a Councillor will be precluded from speaking at all, 
and may not be present in any capacity when the application is 
considered by the Sub- Committee. In such a case, the Councillor may 
still make written representations, but may not seek to improperly 
influence the decision. 

15.2 It should be noted that where a Councillor has a prejudicial interest, 
he/she may not be present when it is being discussed by a formal 
meeting even though this might put him/her at a disadvantage 
compared to ordinary members of the public. Councillors may not “act 
in a personal capacity” so as to avoid the requirements of the Code of 
Conduct, and this has been confirmed by the Court of Appeal in the 
case of R (Richardson & Others) v North Yorkshire County 
Council. Any Councillor considering speaking at a Committee in 
circumstances where a personal or prejudicial interest may arise is 
therefore advised to obtain prior advice from the the Assistant Director 

Page 60



(Legal and Democratic Services) or Assistant Head of Legal Services 
before doing so.  It should be noted that whilst the Code of Conduct 
has been changed following Richardson to allow a member with a 
prejudicial interest to make representations, answer questions and give 
evidence before leaving the room this only applies if members of the 
public are also allowed to attend for the same purpose.  In other words, 
this will be of assistance to members in Licensing matters but not 
planning members where the public do not have rights to address the 
Committee.  A member may still make written representations in a 
private capacity, use a professional representative to act on his/her 
behalf and get another member to represent the views of his/her 
constituents.

15.3   The facility does exist for members to obtain dispensations from the 
Standards Committee where a committee may become inquorate and 
in other limited circumstances. Advice on this is available from the the 
Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services). 

MAY 2009 

Page 61



probity in planning:probity in planning:probity in planning:probity in planning:probity in planning:
the role of councillors the role of councillors the role of councillors the role of councillors the role of councillors 
probity in planning:probity in planning:probity in planning:probity in planning:probity in planning:probity in planning:probity in planning:probity in planning:

and officers – revised and officers – revised and officers – revised and officers – revised and officers – revised 
guidance note on guidance note on guidance note on guidance note on 
good planning practice good planning practice good planning practice good planning practice good planning practice 
for councillors and for councillors and for councillors and for councillors and 
officers dealing with officers dealing with officers dealing with officers dealing with officers dealing with 
planning mattersplanning mattersplanning mattersplanning matters

Appendix 2

Page 62



probity in planning2

contents

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14

0

9
10

1
2

7
8

2
3

foreword

introduction

general role and conduct of councillors and officers

registration and declaration of interests: Predetermination, Predisposition or Bias

development proposals submitted by councillors and officers; and council development

lobbying of and by councillors

pre-application discussions

officer reports to committee

public speaking at committees

decisions contrary to officer recommendations

committee site visits

regular review of decisions

complaint and record keeping

list of references

Appendix 2

Page 63



probity in planning 3

foreword
1

1.1     Planning has a positive and proactive 
role to play at the heart of local 
government. It is a powerful tool that 
helps councils achieve the ambitions 
of local communities. Good planning 
stimulates growth and promotes 
innovation. It helps to translate goals 
for healthier communities, higher 
employment, better housing, reduced 
congestion, educational attainment, 
safe and sustainable communities into 
action through well-designed medical 
centres, offices, universities, homes, 
roads and other facilities vital to 
achieving them.  
 
The planning system works best when 
the roles and responsibilities of the 
many players essential to its effective 
operation are clearly understood. It 
is vital that elected councillors and 
planning officers understand their roles 
and the context and constraints in 
which they operate.

1.2      Planning decisions involve balancing:

the needs and interests of  
individual constituents and the 
community, with

the need to maintain an ethic  
of impartial decision-making  
on what can be highly  
controversial proposals.

  The challenge of achieving the balance 
between these dual roles led the 
LGA to issue its original Probity in 

planning guidance note in 1997. 
However, since then a comprehensive 
ethical framework for local government 
was introduced following the Local 
Government Act 2000. A revised 
national code of conduct for 
councillors was introduced in 2007. 
Each authority is required to adopt a 
local code of conduct that sets out 
rules governing the behaviour  
of its members. 
 
This 2009 update provides refreshed 
advice on achieving this balance in the 
light of such changes. It also better 
reflects local authorities’ roles as place 
shapers and the enhanced role for 
councillors as champions of their local 
communities. It recognises councillors’ 
ability to participate in discussions prior 
to the receipt of a planning application 
on behalf of their communities,  
and engaging in spatial planning  
policy formulation.  
 
It provides advice on this  
following the Killian Pretty review’s 
recommendations. It also advises  
on how to avoid predetermination  
or bias in decision making. Whilst the 
advice is designed primarily for officers 
and councillors involved in plan-making 
and development management,  
it will also assist scrutiny and  
standards committees dealing  
with planning matters.

Appendix 2

Page 64



probity in planning4

introduction
2

2.1      A lot has changed in expectations of 
the planning system since the previous 
LGA guidance was published. 

2.2      Following the planning green and 
white papers, and subsequent 
legislation, planning is moving to the 
heart of local authorities place-shaping 
and community planning roles. Positive 
attitudes to harnessing the benefits of 
sustainable development are changing 
stereotyped images of planning as 
a control mechanism. More flexible 
and responsive development plans 
are being prepared to harness 
development to build communities  
and shape places.

2.3      Councillors are encouraged to act as 
champions of their local communities 
and to co-ordinate public service 
delivery through Local and Multi Area 
Agreements, Strategic Partnerships, 
and Sustainable Community 
Strategies. Creative place-shaping 
requires early and wide engagement 
and councillor and officer involvement. 
The 2008 LGA publication Planning 
at the heart of local government 
explains these changes in more detail.

2.4     This guidance is intended to facilitate  
the development of councillors’ 
community engagement roles.  
The Nolan report resulted in pressures 
on councillors to avoid contact with 
developers in the interests of ensuring 
probity. However in the place-shaping  

context, early councillor engagement is  
now positively encouraged to ensure 
sustainable development proposals 
can be harnessed to produce the 
settlements that communities need.

2.5     This guidance is intended to amplify 
the following for councillors grasping 
these new opportunities: 

Standards Board for England 2007 
members guide on the code of 
conduct and occasional paper on 
predisposition, predetermination  
and bias; 

Association of Council Secretaries 
and Solicitors Model member’s 
planning code of good practice 
2007; and the

Planning Advisory Service  
Effective engagement advice.

2.6     Planning decisions are not based on 
an exact science. Rather, they rely on 
informed judgement within a firm 
policy context. Decisions can be highly 
controversial as they affect the daily 
lives of everyone. This is heightened by 
the openness of the system (it actually 
invites public opinion before taking 
decisions) and the legal nature of  
the development plan and decision 
notices. It is important, therefore, that 
the process is characterised by open 
and transparent decision-making.

Appendix 2

Page 65



probity in planning 5

2.7     One of the key purposes of the 
planning system is to manage 
development in the public interest. 
In performing this role, planning 
necessarily affects land and property 
interests, particularly the financial value 
of landholdings and the quality of their 
settings. It is important, therefore, 
that planning authorities should make 
planning decisions affecting these 
interests openly, impartially, with sound 
judgement and for justifiable reasons. 
The process should leave no grounds 
for suggesting that a decision has  
been partial, biased or not well-
founded in any way.

2.8     Bearing in mind all these factors, it is 
not surprising that, from time to time, 
things can go wrong unless councils 
are on their guard. This is why this 
guidance is essential.

2.9     The intention of the guidance is not 
to suggest that there is one best way 
of doing things. Local circumstances 
may well provide good reasons for 
local variations of policy and practice. 
However, each council should review 
the way in which it conducts its 
planning business, holding in mind the 
recommendations of this guidance. 

2.10   This guidance refers to the actions of 
a planning committee of an authority, 
as the main decision-making forum 
on planning matters. However, it 
is recognised that authorities have 

developed a range of alternative forms 
of decision-making: area committees; 
planning boards, and of course, the 
full council itself - as the final arbiter 
in planning matters. It is important 
to stress, therefore, that the advice in 
this guidance note applies equally to 
these alternative forms of decision-
making arrangements. Indeed, it 
becomes very important if the full 
council is determining planning 
applications referred to it, or adopting 
local development documents, that 
councillors taking those decisions 
understand the importance of this 
guidance. The guidance also applies  
to councillor involvement in any 
planning enforcement.

2.11   This revised guidance note is  
useful to both councillors and officers 
who become involved in operating  
the planning system - it is not therefore 
restricted to professional town planners 
and planning committee members.  
The successful operation of the 
planning system relies on mutual trust 
and understanding of each other’s role. 
It also relies on each ensuring that  
they act in a way which is not only  
fair and impartial but is also clearly 
seen to be so. 

 

Appendix 2

Page 66



probity in planning6

3

3.1     Councillors and officers have different 
but complementary roles. Both 
serve the public but councillors are 
responsible to the electorate, whilst 
officers are responsible to the council 
as a whole. Officers advise councillors 
and the council and carry out the 
council’s work. They are employed 
by the council, not by individual 
councillors. It follows that instructions 
may only be given to officers through 
a decision of the council or its 
executive or a committee. Any other 
system which develops is open to 
question. A successful relationship 
between councillors and officers can 
only be based upon mutual trust and 
understanding of each others positions. 
This relationship and the  
trust which underpins it must never be  
abused or compromised.

3.2     Both councillors and officers are 
guided by codes of conduct. The code 
of conduct for members (the code), 
supplemented by guidance from the 
Standards Board, provides standards 
and guidance for councillors. Staff 
who are Chartered Town Planners 
are guided by the RTPI’s Code of 
Professional Conduct, breaches of 
which may be subject to disciplinary 
action by the Institute. However, not all 
planning officers are members of the 
RTPI and it is therefore recommended 
that the Code of Professional Conduct 
(or those parts of it which are relevant) 
is incorporated into conditions of 

employment. In addition to  
these codes, a council’s standing orders 
set down rules which govern the 
conduct of council business.

3.3     The code sets out the requirements 
on councillors in relation to their 
conduct. It covers issues central to the 
preservation of an ethical approach to 
council business, including the need 
to register and declare interests, as 
well as appropriate relationships with 
other members, staff and the public. 
This impacts on the way in which 
councillors participate in the planning 
process. Of particular relevance to 
councillors making decisions on 
planning applications and planning 
policies is paragraph 6(a) which states 
that a member:

“must not in his or her official 
capacity, or any other circumstance, 
use or attempt to use his or her 
position as a member improperly to 
confer on or secure for himself or 
herself or any other person,  
an advantage or disadvantage.” 

3.4     The basis of the planning system is 
the consideration of private proposals 
against wider public interests. Much 
is often at stake in this process, and 
opposing views are often strongly held 
by those involved. Whilst councillors 
should take account of these views, 

the general role and conduct 
of councillors and officers

Appendix 2

Page 67



probity in planning 7

they should not favour any person, 
company, group or locality, nor put 
themselves in a position where they 
appear to do so. Councillors who do 
not feel that they can act in this  
way should consider whether they  
are best suited to serve on a  
planning committee.

3.5     Councillors should also be very cautious 
about accepting gifts and hospitality. 
The code requires any members 
receiving, in their capacity as members, 
any gift or hospitality over the value 
of £25, to provide written notification 
of the details to the monitoring officer 
of the council within 28 days of its 
receipt. Such details will go in a register 
of gifts and hospitality, which will be 
open to inspection by the public. 

3.6     Similarly, officers, during the course 
of carrying out their duties, may be 
offered hospitality from people with 
an interest in a planning proposal. 
Wherever possible, offers should be 
declined politely. If the receipt of 
hospitality is unavoidable, officers 
should ensure that it is of the minimal 
level and declare its receipt as soon 
as possible. Councils should provide a 
hospitality book to record such offers 
whether or not accepted. This book 
should be reviewed regularly by the 
council’s monitoring officer. Failure by 
an officer to make an entry is likely to 
lead to disciplinary measures.

3.7     Employees must always act impartially. 
In order to ensure that senior officers 
do so, the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989 enables restrictions 
to be set on their outside activities, 
such as membership of political parties 
and serving on another council. 
Councils should carefully consider 
which of their officers are subject to 
such restrictions and review  
this regularly.

3.8     Staff must act impartially as a 
requirement of the draft statutory 
employees’ code. Such impartiality 
(particularly crucial in highly 
contentious matters) is re-enforced 
by requirements on members in the 
code. Members are placed under a 
requirement by paragraphs 2(b) and 
(c) of the code to: treat others with 
respect; and not to do anything which 
compromises or which is likely to 
compromise the impartiality of  
those who work for, or on  
behalf of, the authority.

3.9     Finally, planning legislation and 
guidance can be complex. The LGA 
endorses the good practice of many 
councils which ensures that their 
members receive training on the 
planning process when first serving 
on the planning committee. It also 
recommends that members be updated 
regularly on changes to legislation or 
procedures. Such training is essential 
for those members involved in making 
decisions on planning applications 
and on local development documents. 
Authorities should provide training on 
the planning processes for all members.

 

Appendix 2

Page 68



probity in planning8

4

4.1     The Local Government Act 2000 and 
the national code place requirements 
on members on the registration and 
declaration of their interests, as well 
as the consequences for the member’s 
participation in consideration of an 
issue, in the light of those interests. 
For full guidance on personal and 
prejudicial interests reference should be 
made to the Standard’s Board Code of 
Conduct guidance 2007.  
In addition, advice may be sought 
from the council’s monitoring officer. 
The requirements must be followed 
scrupulously and councillors should 
review their situation regularly. 
However, ultimate responsibility 
for fulfilling the requirements rests 
individually with each councillor.

4.2     The provisions of the code are  
an attempt to separate out interests 
arising from the personal and private 
interests of the councillor and those 
arising from the councillor’s wider 
public life. The emphasis is on a 
consideration of the status of the 
interest in each case by the councillor 
personally, and included in that 
judgement is a consideration of  
the perception of the public,  
acting reasonably and with  
knowledge of the facts.

4.3     A register of members’ interests will be 
maintained by the council’s monitoring 
officer, which will be available for 
public inspection. A member must 
provide the monitoring officer with 
written details of relevant interests 
within 28 days of their election, or 
appointment to office. Any changes 
to those interests must similarly be 
notified within 28 days of the member 
becoming aware of such changes.

4.4     An interest can either be personal or 
personal and prejudicial. The 2007 
national code defines personal and 
prejudicial interests in any matter under 
discussion, and should be referred to 
for the appropriate detail. A useful 
test to determine whether a position 
or view  could be considered to be 
biased is to think about whether a fair-
minded and informed observer, having 
considered the facts, would conclude 
that there was a real possibility of 
bias. Predetermination goes beyond 
predisposition and essentially evades 
the process of weighing and balancing 
relevant factors and taking into 
account other viewpoints. Sections 
6.4 and 6.5 of this guidance further 
illustrate the concepts of bias  
and predetermination. 

registration and declaration of 
interests: predetermination, 
predisposition or bias

Appendix 2

Page 69



probity in planning 9

4.5     A prejudicial interest would require  
withdrawal of the councillor from the 
committee. However, an exception has 
been included in the 2007 code. Where 
a councillor has a prejudicial interest 
in any business of the authority, they 
may attend a meeting but only for the 
purpose of making representations, 
answering questions or giving evidence 
relating to the business, provided that 
the public are also allowed to attend 
the meeting for the same purpose. 
Paragraph 5.3 of this guidance  
advises on this when a councillor  
is submitting a planning application  
to their authority.

4.6     If a councillor with a prejudicial  
interest speaks at a committee,  
they should withdraw after they  
have spoken. This is to ensure that 
members of the committee do not, 
by their presence, influence or seek 
to influence the remainder of the 
decision-making body.

4.7     The exceptions made to the definition 
of personal interests in the code, 
relating to membership of outside 
bodies, are attempts to clarify the 
nature of such interests and to 
encourage participation in such cases. 
It appears that too often in the past, 
members had been prevented from 
participation in discussions in such 
circumstances, on the basis that 
mere membership of another body 
constituted an interest that required 

such a prohibition, even in cases where 
the member was only on that body as 
a representative of the authority. 
 
In addition, this clause was intended 
to allow councillors to exercise their 
representative function and make 
representations on behalf of their 
constituents, in cases where they have 
a personal and prejudicial interest. 

4.8     A personal interest will not require 
withdrawal. Where a member 
considers they have a personal interest 
in a matter, they must always declare it, 
but it does not follow that the personal 
interest debars the member from 
participation in the discussion.

4.9     In addition to any declaring personal 
or prejudicial interests, members 
of a planning committee need 
to avoid any appearance of bias 
or of having predetermined their 
views before taking a decision on a 
planning application. The Standards 
Board has provided guidance on 
predetermination, predisposition 
and bias. Avoidance of bias or 
predetermination is a principle of 
natural justice which the decision-
maker is expected to embrace by the 
courts. But councillors will often form 
an initial impression or view.  
 

Appendix 2

Page 70



probity in planning10

  A distinction is drawn by the courts 
between a planning councillor having 
clearly expressed an intention to vote in 
a particular way before a meeting (pre-
determination), and a predisposition to 
an initial view, but where the councillor 
is clear they are willing to listen to all 
the material considerations presented 
at the committee before deciding on 
how to exercise their vote on behalf  
of the community. In the latter case 
there is no predetermination. This 
distinction is helpfully explained by  
the Standards Board for England in  
an occasional paper.

4.10   If a planning committee councillor 
has been lobbied by friends or others 
and wishes to pre-determine their 
position to promote or oppose a 
planning application, they will need 
to consider whether this has become 
a personal interest or not. Whether 
or not it is a personal interest, they 
need to consider if their view is likely 
to be regarded as pre-determined and 
against the fair determination of the 
planning application. If they have pre-
determined their position, they should 
avoid being part of the decision-
making body for that application. 

4.11   A ward councillor who is also a 
member of the planning committee 
wishing to campaign for or against 
a proposal could speak at a planning 
committee on behalf of their 
constituents, having declared their 
pre-determined position. The councillor 
can continue to represent those ward 
interests as a spokesperson for their 
local community, notwithstanding 
their normal planning committee 
membership. However they would  
have to declare their position and 
not take part in the vote to avoid 
accusations of bias. 

4.12  Cabinets and executives have created 
an interesting situation for cabinet 
members, portfolio holders and leaders 
who are also members of the planning 
application or local development 
document planning decision body. 
Authorities will typically have a member 
responsible for development. If that 
member is on the authority’s planning 
committee or other decision-making 
body for planning matters, there may be 
occasions when that member will wish 
to press for a particular development 
which the member regards as beneficial 
to the development of the area. Should 
that executive member be able to vote 
on any planning application relating to 
that development?

 

Appendix 2

Page 71



probity in planning 11

4.13  The appropriate action is not clear cut, 
and will depend on the circumstances 
of a particular case. However, the 
general advice is that a member in such 
circumstances may well be so committed 
to a particular development as the result 
of their cabinet/executive responsibility 
that they may not be able to 
demonstrate that they are able to take 
account of all material considerations 
before a final decision on a planning 
application is reached. The member  
may be seen as the chief advocate 
on behalf of the authority for the 
development in question. In that 
sense, the member almost represents 
the ‘internal applicant’. In such 
circumstances, the appropriate approach 
is likely to be that the member is able to 
argue for the development but should 
not vote on the relevant applications.

4.14  Given the significance of well-informed 
and appropriate judgments by members 
on the declaration of interests, 
predetermination predisposition and 
bias, it is strongly recommended that 
councils should hold annual seminars on 
the issue, and on the planning process 
generally. Many do this.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Standards Board nationally, and 
the authority’s standards committee 
locally, have the statutory responsibility 
of promoting and maintaining high 
standards of conduct by members and 
assisting them to observe the authority’s 
statutory code of conduct. In providing 
such guidance and training to members 
at local level, the standards committee 
of the authority should be encouraged 
to include provision for the implications 
of the code and this guidance in 
planning matters to be considered.

 

Appendix 2

Page 72



probity in planning12

5.1     Proposals to their own authority  
by serving and former councillors, 
officers and their close associates 
and relatives can easily give rise 
to suspicions of impropriety. So 
can proposals for a council’s own 
development. Proposals can take the 
form of either planning applications  
 or development plan proposals.

5.2     It is perfectly legitimate for such 
proposals to be submitted. However,  
it is vital to ensure that they are 
handled in such a way that gives no 
grounds for accusations of favouritism. 
Any local planning protocol or code 
of good practice should address the 
following points in relation to proposals 
submitted by councillors and  
planning officers:

serving councillors who act as agents 
for people pursuing planning matters 
within their authority should not play 
a part in the decision-making process 
for those proposals. Similarly, if they 
submit their own proposal to their 
authority they should play no part in 
its decision making;

a system should be devised to  
identify such proposals;

the council’s monitoring officer 
should be informed of such 
proposals;

proposals should be reported to  
the planning committee as main 
items and not dealt with by officers 
under delegated powers.

5.3     The consideration of a proposal from 
a councillor in such circumstances 
would be considered as a prejudicial 
interest under the code and as such, 
the councillor would be required to 
withdraw from any consideration of the 
matter. The code also provides that the 
councillor should ‘not seek improperly 
to influence a decision about the 
matter’. It is important to emphasise 
here that ‘improperly’ does not imply 
that a councillor should have any fewer 
rights than a member of the public 
in seeking to explain and justify their 
proposal to an officer in advance of 
consideration by a committee.  
 
However, whilst a member with a 
prejudicial interest may now address 
the committee under the code if the 
public enjoy the same rights, the 
member should consider whether 
it would be wise to do so in all the 
circumstances of the case, which could 
include the nature of the prejudicial 
interest and the relationship of the 
councillor with the remainder of the 
planning committee.

5.4     Proposals for a council’s own 
development should be treated with  
the same transparency and impartiality 
as those of private developers .  
A member whose cabinet/executive 
responsibility effectively makes them 
an advocate for the development in 
question almost represents the ‘internal 
applicant’. In such circumstances, the 
appropriate approach is likely to be that 
the member is able to argue for the 
development but should not vote on 
the relevant applications.

development proposals  
submitted by councillors and  
officers; and council development

5 Appendix 2

Page 73



probity in planning 13

 6.1     It is important to recognise that 
lobbying is a normal and perfectly 
proper part of the political process. 
Those who may be affected by a 
planning decision will often seek to 
influence it through an approach to 
their elected ward member or to a 
member of the planning committee. 
As the Nolan Committee’s third 
report stated:  “It is essential for the 
proper operation of the planning 
system that local concerns are 
adequately ventilated. The most 
effective and suitable way that this 
can be done is through the local 
elected representatives, the councillors 
themselves”. Any guidance failing to 
take account of the realities of the 
political/representative process will 
not carry credibility with experienced 
elected members.

6.2     However, lobbying can lead to the 
impartiality and integrity of a councillor 
being called into question, unless care 
and common sense is exercised by 
all the parties involved. When being 
lobbied, councillors (members of the 
planning committee in particular) 
should take care about expressing an 
opinion that may be taken as indicating 
that they have already made up their 
mind on the issue before they have 
been exposed to all the evidence and 
arguments. In such situations, they 
should restrict themselves to giving 
procedural advice, including suggesting 

to those who are lobbying, that they 
should speak or write to the relevant 
officer, in order that their opinions can 
be included in the officer’s report to 
the committee. If they do express an 
opinion, they should make it clear that 
they will only be in a position to take a 
final decision after having heard all the 
relevant evidence and arguments  
at committee.

6.3     Concerns on poor practices within local 
authorities have often been based on 
the issue of lobbying. 

6.4     Councillors, and members of the 
planning committee in particular, need 
to avoid bias and predetermination and 
take account of the general public’s 
(and the Ombudsman’s) expectation 
that a planning application will be 
processed and determined in an open 
and fair manner. To do this, members 
taking the decision will take account 
of all the evidence presented before 
arriving at a decision, and will avoid 
committing themselves one way 
or another before hearing all the 
arguments. To do otherwise makes 
them vulnerable to an accusation of 
partiality. Bias or the appearance of 
bias has to be avoided by the decision-
maker. Whilst the determination of a 
planning application is not strictly  a 
‘quasi-judicial’ process (unlike, say, 
certain licensing functions carried 
out by the local authority), it is, 

lobbying of and  
by councillors

6Appendix 2

Page 74



probity in planning14

nevertheless, a formal administrative 
process involving application of 
national and local policies, reference 
to legislation and case law as well as 
rules of procedure, rights of appeal 
and an expectation that people will act 
reasonably and fairly. There is an added 
possibility that an aggrieved party 
may seek judicial review on the way in 
which a decision has been arrived at; 
or complain to the Local Government 
Ombudsman on grounds of mal-
administration; or that a member has 
breached the code. 

6.5     In reality of course, members will often 
form an initial view (a predisposition) 
about an application early on in its 
passage through the system, whether 
or not they have been lobbied.  
The difficulty created by the nature of 
the planning committee’s proceedings 
as set out  in the paragraph above, is 
that members of the committee (at 
least those who are not councillors of 
the affected ward - see overleaf) should 
not decide or declare which way they 
may be inclined  to vote in advance 
of the planning meeting, or before 
hearing evidence and arguments  
on both sides.

6.6     Political reality suggests that it is often 
important to distinguish between 
the role of the planning committee 
member who is, and who is not, a 
ward member for the area affected by 
a particular planning application.  

A planning committee member who  
does not represent the ward affected 
is in an easier position to adopt an 
impartial stance, however strong his  
or her feelings about the application 
may be, and to wait until the 
committee meeting before  
declaring one way or another.

6.7     A planning committee member who 
represents a ward affected by an  
application may be in a difficult 
position if it is a controversial matter 
on which a lot of lobbying takes place. 
If the member responds to lobbying 
by deciding to go public in support 
of a particular outcome - or even 
campaigning actively for it - they will 
have predetermined their position 
when the committee comes to take a 
decision on the application. The risk  
of perceived bias means that the 
proper course of action for such a 
member would be not to vote.

6.8     As explained previously, even where 
a councillor has a prejudicial interest 
in any business of the authority, they 
may attend a meeting but only for the 
purpose of making representations, 
answering questions or giving evidence 
relating to the business, provided that 
the public are also allowed to attend 
the meeting for the same purpose.

Appendix 2

Page 75



probity in planning 15

6.9     A ward councillor who is also a member 
of the planning committee wishing 
to campaign for or against a proposal 
could speak at a planning committee 
on behalf of their constituents, 
having declared their pre-determined 
position. A pre-determined councillor 
can continue to represent those ward 
interests as a spokesperson for their 
local community, notwithstanding their 
planning committee membership. If 
that councillor speaks on behalf of a 
lobby group at the decision-making 
committee, they would be well advised 
to withdraw once any public or ward 
member speaking opportunities had 
been completed. This is to counter  
any suggestion that members of the 
committee may have been influenced  
by their continuing presence. 

6.10   Councils should consider the  
provision of arrangements for 
the planning committee to hear 
representations from a ward member 
in circumstances where that member 
takes the view that it would be 
inappropriate to vote, if these are 
not already dealt with in the council’s 
procedures. (See also section 9 
on public speaking at planning 
committees).

6.11   It should be evident from the previous 
paragraphs that it is very difficult to find 
a form of words which conveys every 
nuance of these situations and which 
gets the balance right between the 
duty to be an active local representative 
and the requirement when taking 
decisions on planning matters to take 
account of all arguments in an open-
minded way. It cannot be stressed too 
strongly, however, that the striking 
of this balance is, ultimately, the 
responsibility of the individual member.

Appendix 2

Page 76



probity in planning16

6.12   Any local code or guidance of planning 
good practice should also address  
the following more specific issues 
about lobbying:

given that the point at which a 
decision on a planning application 
is made cannot occur before the 
planning committee meeting, 
when all available information 
is to hand and has been duly 
considered, no political group 
meeting should be used to decide 
how councillors should vote. The 
use of political whips to seek to 
influence the outcome of a planning 
application is likely to be regarded as 
maladministration; 

with the exception in some 
circumstances of ward councillors, 
whose position has already 
been covered in the preceding 
paragraphs, planning committee 
councillors should in general avoid 
organising support for or against 
a planning application, and avoid 
lobbying other councillors. Such 
actions can easily be misunderstood 
by parties to the application and to 
the general public;

councillors should not put improper 
pressure on officers for a particular 
recommendation, and, as required 
by the code, should not do anything 
which compromises, or is likely 
to compromise, the officers’ 
impartiality. Officers acting under 
the council’s delegation scheme 

to determine an application or 
making recommendations for 
decision by committee, are required 
to be impartial. It is therefore 
important, as reflected in the 
code, for councillors to refrain 
from seeking to influence the 
outcome of the officer’s decision or 
recommendation;

call-in procedures, whereby 
members can require a proposal 
that would normally be determined 
under the delegated authority to be 
called in for determination by the 
planning committees, should include 
provisions requiring the reasons for 
call in to be expressed in writing so 
that there is a record of decision, 
and should refer solely to matters  
of material planning concern.

Appendix 2

Page 77



probity in planning 17

7.1     Discussions between a potential 
applicant and a council prior to the 
submission of an application can be  
of considerable benefit to both parties 
and are encouraged. However, it would 
be easy for such discussions to become, 
or to be seen by objectors to become 
part of a lobbying process on the part 
of the applicant.

7.2     With the recognition of the need to 
allow and encourage councillors to be 
champions of their local communities 
in the local government white paper, 
there has followed a realisation 
that councillor engagement in pre-
application discussions on major 
development is necessary to allow 
councillors to fulfil this role. Many 
councils had been so concerned  
about probity issues following Nolan 
and the introduction of the ethical 
code, that they had not involved 
councillors in pre-application 
discussions for fear of councillors being 
accused of predetermination when the 
subsequent application came before 
them for determination.

7.3     In 2006, the Audit Commission 
followed emerging advice from the 
Local Government Association, National 
Planning Forum, and Planning Advisory 
Service that councillor involvement 
in pre-application discussions was 
beneficial provided it was done within 
carefully established limits to protect 
the council and its councillors.  
 

The Audit Commission recommended 
that councils should develop effective 
approaches to pre-application 
discussions which involve councillors,  
to ensure the issues relating to 
proposed planning applications are 
identified and addressed early in 
the process. This was partly to help 
councillors lead on community issues 
and partly to ensure that issues were 
not identified for the first time when 
the application was presented to the 
committee for decision, causing delay 
and frustration. 

7.4     The updated 2008 leaflet Positive 
engagement – a guide for  
planning councillors endorsed  
by the government and LGA asks  
councillors to be prepared to  
engage with officers in appropriate  
pre-application discussions.

7.5     In order to avoid perceptions  
that councillors might have  
fettered their discretion in any 
pre application discussions, such 
discussions should take place within 
clear guidelines. These guidelines 
need to be developed by an 
authority and published to assist 
councillors and officers. Although the 
term ‘pre-application’ has been used, 
the same considerations should apply 
to any discussions which take place 
before a decision is taken. In addition 
to any guidelines to deal with specific 
local circumstances, a protocol  
should include:

pre-application discussions
7Appendix 2

Page 78



probity in planning18

clarity at the outset that the 
discussions will not bind a  
council to making a particular 
decision and that any views 
expressed are personal and 
provisional. By the very nature 
of such meetings not all relevant 
information may be at hand, nor  
will formal consultations with 
interested parties have taken place;

consistent advice should be 
given by officers based upon the 
development plan and material 
considerations. There should 
be no significant difference of 
interpretation of planning policies 
amongst planning officers. It is 
officers’ role to ensure consistency 
of advice and officers should 
therefore be present with 
councillors in pre application 
meetings. All officers taking part 
in such discussions should make 
clear whether or not they are the 
decision-maker. Councillors should 
avoid giving separate advice on 
the development plan or material 
considerations as they may not be 
aware of all the issues at an early 
stage. Neither should they become 
drawn into any negotiations. They 
should ask their officers to deal  
with any necessary negotiations  
to ensure that the authority’s 
position is co-ordinated;

a written note should be made 
of all meetings. An officer would 
best make the arrangements for 
such meetings, attend and write 

a follow-up letter. A note should 
also be taken of similar telephone 
discussions. The note should be 
placed on the file as a public record 
to show a transparent approach. 
Sometimes confidentiality is needed 
and should be respected. However 
the need for this can easily be 
exaggerated and confidentiality of 
advice by representatives of a public 
body on a planning matter will rarely 
be justified even if the applicant’s 
interest is sensitive. If there is a 
legitimate reason for confidentiality 
regarding the proposal, a note of 
the non-confidential issues raised 
or advice given can still normally 
be recorded on the file to reassure 
others not party to the discussion;

 care must be taken to ensure that 
advice is not partial (nor seen to be), 
otherwise the subsequent report 
or recommendation to committee 
could appear to be advocacy; and

the decision as to whether to 
establish a register for everyday 
contacts between councillors and 
interested parties will depend 
on local circumstances. Many 
councillors will be talking regularly 
to constituents to gauge their views 
on matters of local concern, and 
such a register may be considered, 
as the Nolan Committee argued, 
impractical and unnecessary. 
Councillors will, however,  
need to register any gifts and 
hospitality received as a  
requirement of the code. 

Appendix 2

Page 79



probity in planning 19

7.6     Consideration needs to be given to 
when to involve other consultees and 
the community in pre-application 
discussions. Some authorities have 
been very successful in engaging 
their councillors and communities 
by having public planning forums 
to explore major pre-application 
proposals with the developer outlining 
their ideas and invited speakers to 
represent differing interests and 
consulttees. The advantages of the 
authority setting up such forums 
are the transparency of process, and 
the ability of ward councillors and 
other councillors to seek information 
and identify important issues for the 
proposal to address, without the risk of 
planning councillors having engaged 
with developers in such a way as to 
suggest they have pre-determined 
themselves. Members should also be 
aware of the code of conduct which 
means that they should not use their 
position to improperly influence 
decisions. This provision does not only 
apply to councillors when they are in a 
committee meeting.

7.7     Authorities also have other mechanisms 
to involve councillors in pre-application 
discussions including:

committee information reports by 
officers of discussions from which 
councillors can identify items of 
interest and seek further information 
and raise issues for consideration;

developer presentations to 
committees which have the 
advantage of transparency if held 
in public as a committee would 
normally be;

ward councillor briefing by officers  
of the content of initial pre 
application meetings held. 

7.8     The 2007 CLG report on Member 
Involvement in Planning Decisions, 
the 2007 London Councils report 
on Connecting Councillors with 
Strategic Planning Applications, and 
the 2007 POS Enterprises Development 
Management  practice guidance 
note on Councillor involvement 
in pre-application discussions 
provide examples and advice for those 
interested in developing appropriate 
protocols for their authority. Full 
references are given at the end of  
this document.

7.9     Statements of Community Involvement 
required as part of the LDF need to  
be reviewed to see whether 
mechanisms for such dialogue are 
already in place, or if the statement 
needs to be updated to reflect the 
council’s approach.

 

Appendix 2

Page 80



probity in planning20

8.1     The courts and Ombudsman advice 
have determined officer reports on 
planning applications must have regard 
to the following points:

reports should be accurate and 
cover, amongst other things, the 
substance of any objections and the 
views of those consulted;

relevant information should 
include a clear exposition of the 
development plan; site or related 
history; and any other material 
considerations;

reports should have a written 
recommendation of action. Oral 
reporting (except to update a report) 
should be avoided and carefully 
minuted when it does occur;

reports should contain technical 
appraisals which clearly justify a 
recommendation;

if the report’s recommendation is 
contrary to the provisions of the 
development plan, the material 
considerations which justify the 
departure must be clearly stated.

  It is particularly important to do so, 
not only as a matter of good practice, 
but because failure may constitute 
maladministration, or give rise to 
judicial review on the grounds that the 
decision was not taken in accordance 
with the provisions of the development 
plan and the council’s statutory duty 
under s38A of the Planning and 
Compensation Act 2004.

 

officer reports to committee
8 Appendix 2

Page 81



probity in planning 21

9.1     The principle of whether or not 
public speaking should be allowed 
at a planning committee is very 
much a matter for the local authority 
concerned. A majority of authorities 
now provide such an opportunity. The 
benefits seen by those authorities are 
that public confidence is generally 
enhanced and that direct lobbying 
may as a result be reduced. The 
disadvantage is that the approach may 
lengthen meetings and make them 
marginally more difficult to manage. 
However, where public speaking is 
allowed, it is important that clear 
protocols are established about 
who is allowed to speak, including 
provisions for applicants, supporters, 
ward councillors,  parish councils and 
third party objectors arrangements. In 
addition, in the interests of equity, the 
time allowed for presentations for and 
against the development should be 
identical, and those speaking should 
be asked to direct their presentation 
to reinforcing or amplifying 
representations already made  
to the council in writing. 

9.2     Documents not previously submitted 
should not normally be circulated to 
the committee as all parties may not 
have time to react to the submissions, 
and councillors may not be able to give 
proper consideration to the matter. 
Officers may not be able to provide 
considered advice on any material 
considerations arising. This should also 
be told to those who intend to speak.  
 
The acceptance of circulated material 
could imply a willingness to take the 
necessary time to investigate any issues 
raised and lead to the need to defer 
the application or risk a complaint 
about the way the material has 
been considered. For similar reasons, 
messages passed to members sitting 
in planning committees should be 
avoided. Care needs to be taken 
to avoid the perception of external 
influence or bias.

 

public speaking at  
planning committees

9Appendix 2

Page 82



probity in planning22

10.1    The law requires that decisions  
should be taken in accordance with 
the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise 
(s38A Planning & Compensation  
Act 2004).

10.2     This gives rise to two main issues. 
Firstly, all applications which are not 
in accordance with the development 
plan must be identified and advertised 
as such. Secondly, if it is intended 
to approve such an application, the 
material considerations leading to this 
conclusion must be clearly identified, 
and how these considerations justify 
overriding the development plan 
must be clearly demonstrated. The 
application may then have to be 
referred to the relevant secretary of 
state, depending upon the type and 
scale of the development proposed. 
If the officers’ report recommends 
approval of such a departure, the 
justification for this should be 
included, in full, in that report.

10.3    The Association of Council Secretaries 
and Solicitors’ Model Planning 
Code advises planning committees 
to take the following steps prior to 
making a decision contrary to officers’ 
recommendations:

encouraging the formation of 
tentative reasons by discussing a 
predisposition with planning officers 
beforehand;

writing down the reasons as part of 
the mover’s motion;

adjourning for a few minutes for 
those reasons to be discussed;

if a very strong objection from 
officers on validity of reasons, 
considering deferring to another 
meeting to have the putative 
reasons tested and discussed.

decision contrary to officer 
recommendation and/or the 
development plan

10 Appendix 2

Page 83



probity in planning 23

10.4     If the planning committee makes 
a decision contrary to the officers’ 
recommendation (whether for 
approval or refusal), a detailed minute 
of the committee’s reasons should 
be made and a copy placed on the 
application file. Thus, members 
should be prepared to explain in  
full their reasons for not agreeing with 
the officer’s recommendation. In so 
doing, members should observe the 
‘Wednesbury principle’ (the case of 
Associated Provincial Picture Houses 
Ltd. v. Wednesbury Corporation 
[1948] 1 K.B. 223) which, put simply, 
requires all relevant information 
(ie material considerations) to be 
taken into account and all irrelevant  
information (ie non-material matters) 
to be ignored. 
 
The officer should also be given 
an opportunity to explain the 
implications of the contrary decision. 

10.5     The courts have expressed the view 
that the committee’s reasons should 
be clear and convincing. The personal 
circumstances of an applicant, or 
any other material or non-material 
considerations which might cause 
local controversy, will rarely provide 
such grounds. A notable exception 
is where planning policy allows for 
this, for example, the provision of a 
dwelling for an agricultural worker.

 

Appendix 2

Page 84



probity in planning24

11.1     Earlier enquiries revealed little 
consistency amongst councils on 
the operation of site visits, both in 
terms of why they are held and how 
they are conducted. While a variety 
of approaches can be healthy, the 
lack of any common approach on 
when and why to hold a site visit 
and how to conduct it can leave a 
council open to the accusation that 
such visits are arbitrary and unfair or 
a covert lobbying device. A protocol 
setting out the arrangements for a 
council could be used to encourage 
consistency and transparency  
of process.

11.2     The code applies whenever the 
councillor is conducting official 
business, which will include site visits. 
Councils should set out the criteria for 
deciding when a site visit is justified 
and consider the procedures for 
such visits. In doing so, the following 
points may be helpful:

site visits can cause delay and 
additional costs and should only  
be used where the expected benefit 
is substantial; officers will have 
visited the site and identified  
material considerations on  
behalf of the council;

they should be carefully organised 
to ensure that the purpose, format 
and conduct are  clearly established 
at the outset and subsequently 
adhered to throughout the visit; 
 
 

many councils allow site visits to  
be ‘triggered’ by a request from the 
ward councillor. It is acknowledged 
that this may be a proper part of the 
representative role of the member, 
and should normally be considered 
if allowed for in any local planning 
guidance, although the ‘substantial 
benefit’ test should still apply. It is 
also good practice to keep a  
record of the reasons why a  
site visit is called.

11.3     A site visit is only likely to be 
necessary if:

the impact of the proposed 
development is difficult to visualise 
from the plans and any supporting 
material, including photographs  
taken by officers (although if that 
is the case, additional illustrative 
material should have been  
requested in advance); or

there is a good reason why the 
comments of the applicant and 
objectors cannot be expressed 
adequately in writing, or the  
proposal is particularly contentious.

11.4     Site visits consisting simply of 
an inspection by a viewing sub-
committee, with officer assistance, 
are in most cases the most fair and 
equitable approach. An inspection 
could be unaccompanied (ie 
without applicant and objectors) or 
accompanied but run on the strict 
lines of a planning inspector’s site 
inspection, ie not allowing arguments 
to be expressed on site. 

committee site visit
11 Appendix 2

Page 85



probity in planning 25

 12.1     The report of the Audit Commission 
Building in Quality recommended 
that councillors should revisit a 
sample of implemented planning 
permissions to assess the quality of 
the decisions. Such a review should 
improve the quality and consistency 
of decision-making, strengthening 
public confidence in the planning 
system, and can help with reviews  
of planning policy.

12.2     Such reviews are best undertaken at 
least annually. They should include 
examples from a broad range of 
categories such as major and minor 
development; permitted departures; 
upheld appeals; listed building works 
and enforcement cases. Briefing notes 
should be prepared on each case. The 
planning committee should formally 
consider the review and decide 
whether it gave rise to the need to 
reconsider any policies or practices.

12.3     Scrutiny committees may be able to 
assist in this process but the essential 
purpose of these reviews is to assist 
planning committee members to 
refine their understanding of the 
impact of their decisions from the 
visiting of completed developments. 
It is therefore important for planning 
committee members to be fully 
engaged in such reviews.

 

regular review of decisions
12Appendix 2

Page 86



probity in planning26

13.1     Whatever procedures a council 
operates, it is likely that complaints 
will be made. However, the adoption 
of the advice in this guidance should 
greatly reduce the occasions on which 
complaints are justified. It should 
also provide less reason for people to 
complain in the first place.

13.2     A logical consequence of adopting  
good planning practice guidance is 
that a council should also have in 
place a robust complaints system. 
Such a system may well apply to all 
council activities, but a council should 
consider specifically how planning- 
related complaints will be handled, in 
relation to the code of good practice.

13.3     So that complaints may be fully 
investigated and as a matter of 
general good practice, record  
keeping should be complete and 
accurate. Omissions and inaccuracies 
could cause a complaint or undermine 
a council’s case. The guiding rule is 
that every planning application file 
should contain an accurate account  
of events throughout its life. It 
should be possible for someone 
not involved in that application 
to understand what the decision 
was, and why and how it had been 
reached. Particular care needs to be 
taken with applications determined 
under officers’ delegated powers. 
Such decisions should be as well 
documented and recorded as those 
taken by members. These principles 
apply equally to enforcement and 
development plan matters.

complaints and  
record keeping

13 Appendix 2

Page 87



probity in planning 27

list of references
14

Committee on Standards in Public Life (1997) Third Report: Standards of Conduct in Local 
Government in England, Scotland and Wales, Volume 1 Report Cm 3702-1:
http://www.public-standards.org.uk/Library/OurWork/3rdInquiryReport.pdf

The Local Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) (England) Order 2007:
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2007/uksi_20071159_en_1

National Development Control Forum (1988) Guidelines for the Handling of Planning Applications

Royal Town Planning Institute Code of Professional Conduct: 
http://www.rtpi.org.uk/download/154/Code-of-Professional-Conduct-2007.pdf

Royal Town Planning Institute (1997) - The Role of Elected Members in Plan-making and 
Development Control - A Study Commission from the School of Planning, Oxford Brookes University 

Code of Conduct – Guide for members Standards Board for England, May 2007
http://www.standardsboard.gov.uk/TheCodeofConduct/Guidance/CodeofConduct/
filedownload,16126,en.pdf

Predisposition, Predetermination or Bias and the Code 
Standards Board for England Occasional paper August 2007
http://www.standardsboard.gov.uk/Publications/OccasionalPaper/filedownload,16105,en.pdf

Members involvement in planning decisions,
Department of Communities & Local Government 2007

Connecting Councillors with strategic Planning Applications London Councils November 2007
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/Transport/Publications/
connectingcouncillorswithstrategicplanningapplicationsagoodpracticeguideforlondon.htm

Positive Engagement – a guide for planning councillors 2008 leaflet PAS
http://www.pas.gov.uk/pas/

Model Members’ Planning Code of Good Practice Association of Council Secretaries and Solicitors, 
2007 update: http://www.acses.org.uk/public_file/filename/8/ACSeS_Members_Planning_Code_update_
draft_07_07.pdf

Councillor Involvement in pre application discussions Development Management Practice Project 
Guidance note 3, 2007 Planning Officers Society: http://www.planningofficers.org.uk/documents/
Guidance_Note_3_Member_pre_application_discussions.pdf

The Planning System – matching expectations to capacity Audit Commission, February 2006:
http://www.audit-commission.gov.uk/Products/NATIONAL-REPORT/EFF8A0E9-4071-4fc9-8099-
77FDFBD3D7CB/Planning_FINAL.pdf

Published by CLG on behalf of the Killian Pretty review  
Planning applications; a faster and more responsive system Final Report November 2008: 
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/uploads/kpr/kpr_final-report.pdf

Appendix 2

Page 88



For further information please contact

the Local Government Association at:

Local Government House

Smith Square, 

London SW1P 3HZ

or telephone LGconnect, for all your LGA

queries on 020 7664 3131

Fax: 020 7664 3030

E:mail info@lga.gov.uk

For a copy in Braille, in larger print or audio  

tape contact LGconnect  

promoting better local government

Code L09-280
ISBN 978-1-84049-682-6 
Designed by Liberata Design Studio
Printed by Newman Thomson Ltd, 
1 Jubilee Road, Burgess Hill, West Sussex RH15 9TL
© LGA May 2009

Appendix 2

Page 89



B STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

4 NOVEMBER 2009 
 
 

 

CONTRIBUTORS 
 
ADLADS 
HCS 

 
JOINT STANDARDS COMMITTEE MEETING WITH THE 
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KENSINGTON & CHELSEA 
 
Summary 
 
This report outlines suggested arrangements for the joint 
meeting with the Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea 
Council’s Standards Committee on Thursday, 3 December 
2009. 
 

WARDS 
 
ALL 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the arrangements be agreed, subject to any detailed 
changes needed. 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 11

Page 90



  

1. Background 
 
1.1  At the Committee’s last meeting it was felt that an informal networking event 
should be arranged for late November in order to bring members of both the 
Hammersmith & Fulham and Kensington & Chelsea Standards Committees 
together to share best practice and discuss issues of mutual interest. 
 
1.2  An invitation was therefore extended to members of the Kensington & 
Chelsea Standards Committee to attend the event. Following consultation with 
Kensington & Chelsea Members/officers, the preferable date was 3 December 
2009.  
 
1.3  A formal invitation was issued by the Chairman inviting Members of both 
Committees to a networking event  in the Mayor’s Parlour, followed by a 
business meeting in the Council Chamber. 
 
2     Provisional Arrangements 
 
2.1  The Mayor has agreed to the use of the Mayor’s Parlour and it is hoped he 
will be able to welcome members at the start.  Bob Chilton, Chairman of 
Standards for England has also agreed to attend.   
 
2.2 So far 6 Members/Officers of Kensington & Chelsea and 7 Members/Officers 
of Hammersmith & Fulham have notified they will be attending. A reminder will be 
sent out shortly with a copy of the final programme for the evening. 
 
2.3 The provisional Programme will be along the lines of : 
 
• 6.30pm Reception with drinks and refreshments in the Mayor’s Parlour. 

Mayor to welcome Members 
• 7pm  Members to adjourn to Council Chamber 
• 7.05pm Chairman of Standards Committee welcomes Members to 

business part of meeting 
• 7.10pm Bob Chilton, Chairman of Standards for England, gives overview 

of current issues at SfE and the prospects for the Board for the future 
• 7.40pm Chairman  of Kensington & Chelsea outlines her role as Chair of 

London Standards Committee Chairmen’s Virtual Network 
• 7.50pm – 8.30pm Open Forum for any Members to raise issues of mutual 

interest 
• 8.30pm Chairman of Kensington & Chelsea closes meeting with message 

of thanks. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



  

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000  

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

No. 
 

Brief Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext. of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/Location 
 
1. 
 
 

 
Standards Committee 
Minutes June 2009. 

 
David Bays ext 2628 

 
HCS, Committee 
Services, Room 203 

 

Page 92



  

 

 

 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
4 NOVEMBER 2009 

 
 

 
CONTRIBUTORS 
 
 
ADLDS 
HCS   

STANDARDS COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 
 
 
 
Synopsis 
 
The appendix below sets out the Committee’s future 
work programme and scheduled reporting dates.  
Members are asked to note and update the work 
programme as necessary. 
 
 
 

WARDS 
 
ALL 

  
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the Standards Committee note and agree its 
proposed  future work programme.  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 12

Page 93



  

 
  
   APPENDIX A 
 
 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE PROPOSED FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 
 
 

TITLE PROPOSED DATE 
 

Hits on Web Site 6 January 2010 
Review of Outside Organisations 6 January 2010 
Revised National Code of Conduct 6 January 2010 
Member Training Following 2010 Elections 6 January 2010 

 
 
The Committee is also scheduled to meet on  24 March 2010.  No items have so far 
been allocated for this meeting. 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
No. 
 

Brief Description of 
Background 

Papers 
Name/Ext.  of holder of 

file/copy 
 

Department/Location 

 
1. 
 

 
Council Calendar 2009-10 

 
David Bays x 2628 

 
Room 203, 
Hammersmith Town Hall 

  

Page 94


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 'That's a Wrap' DVD
	5 Annual Assembly of Standards Committees 2009
	6 Whistleblowing Policy
	7 Local Assessment of Complaints
	Item 7 App1 K&C Report
	Item 7 App2 RBKC Report Constitution Change

	8 Members' Allowances
	Item 8 App1 CouncillorsAllowancesschemeRevised
	Item 8 App 2 Expenses Allowances Paid

	9 Dispensation Guidance
	Item 9 App 1 SfE Guidance July 2009. pdf

	10 Probity in Planning
	Item 10 App 1 GuidanceforCouncillorsandofficersdealingwithPlanningandLicensing
	Item 10 App 2  Final LGA Guidance on Probity in Planning

	11 Joint Standards Committee Meeting with the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea
	12 Standards Committee Work Programme

